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(Mark One)
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15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2006

Or
o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period                                     to                    

Commission file number:  0-26456

ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Bermuda Not Applicable
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or

organization)
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
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Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
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(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes   ý   No   o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of
�accelerated filer and large accelerated filer� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Filer   ý         Accelerated Filer   o         Non-Accelerated Filer   o

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes   o   No   ý

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer�s classes of common shares as of the latest practicable date.

Class Outstanding at May 1, 2006
Common Shares, $0.01 par value 73,880,077
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Arch Capital Group Ltd.:

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Arch Capital Group Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of March 31,
2006, the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders� equity, comprehensive income and cash flows for the three-month
periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. These interim financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of
interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying consolidated interim financial
statements for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders� equity,
comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year then ended, management�s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005; and in our report dated March 7, 2006, we expressed unqualified opinions thereon. The consolidated financial statements
and management�s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting referred to above are not presented herein. In our
opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
May 8, 2006
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
March 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Assets
Investments:
Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost: 2006, $5,488,075;
2005, $5,310,712) $ 5,414,156 $ 5,280,987
Short-term investments available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost: 2006, $1,052,669;
2005, $679,530) 1,052,753 681,887
Short-term investment of funds received under securities lending agreements, at fair value 882,950 893,379
Other investments, at fair value (cost: 2006, $89,100; 2005, $59,839) 102,351 70,233
Total investments 7,452,210 6,926,486

Cash 247,906 222,477
Accrued investment income 59,936 62,196
Fixed maturities and short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements, at
fair value 858,283 863,866
Premiums receivable 872,975 672,902
Funds held by reinsureds 131,968 167,739
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses recoverable 1,441,412 1,389,768
Paid losses and loss adjustment expenses recoverable 63,803 80,948
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 376,815 322,435
Deferred income tax assets, net 83,595 71,139
Deferred acquisition costs, net 327,491 317,357
Other assets 444,746 391,123
Total Assets $ 12,361,140 $ 11,488,436

Liabilities
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 5,760,939 $ 5,452,826
Unearned premiums 1,867,250 1,699,691
Reinsurance balances payable 226,892 150,451
Senior notes 300,000 300,000
Deposit accounting liabilities 49,646 43,104
Securities lending collateral 882,950 893,379
Payable for securities purchased 35,690 12,020
Other liabilities 488,219 456,438
Total Liabilities 9,611,586 9,007,909

Commitments and Contingencies

Shareholders� Equity
Series A non-cumulative preferred shares ($0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
issued: 2006, 8,000,000) 80 �
Common shares ($0.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, issued: 2006, 73,827,467;
2005, 73,334,870) 738 733
Additional paid-in capital 1,794,410 1,595,440
Deferred compensation under share award plan � (9,646)
Retained earnings 1,030,971 901,348
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred income tax (76,645) (7,348)
Total Shareholders� Equity 2,749,554 2,480,527
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Total Liabilities and Shareholders� Equity $ 12,361,140 $ 11,488,436

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

Revenues
Net premiums written $ 873,719 $ 799,801
Increase in unearned premiums (112,118) (102,733)
Net premiums earned 761,601 697,068
Net investment income 80,326 49,916
Net realized gains (losses) (3,383) 461
Fee income 1,805 6,112
Total revenues 840,349 753,557

Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 468,178 425,536
Acquisition expenses 129,672 126,133
Other operating expenses 82,977 74,175
Interest expense 5,555 5,636
Net foreign exchange (gains) losses 10,253 (3,237)
Total expenses 696,635 628,243

Income before income taxes 143,714 125,314

Income tax expense 11,424 9,422

Net income 132,290 115,892

Preferred dividends 2,667 �

Net income available to common shareholders $ 129,623 $ 115,892

Net income per common share
Basic $ 1.78 $ 3.37
Diluted $ 1.71 $ 1.57

Weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding
Basic (1) 72,899,249 34,364,818
Diluted (1) 75,855,309 74,013,546

(1) For the 2005 period, basic weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding excluded 37,331,402 series A
convertible preference shares. Such shares were included in the diluted weighted average common shares and common share
equivalents outstanding. During the 2005 fourth quarter, all remaining series A convertible preference shares were converted into an
equal number of common shares.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

Series A Convertible Preference Shares
Balance at beginning of year $ � $ 373
Converted to common shares � (0)
Balance at end of period � 373

Series A Non-Cumulative Preferred Shares
Balance at beginning of year � �
Preferred shares issued 80 �
Balance at end of period 80 �

Common Shares
Balance at beginning of year 733 349
Common shares issued, net 5 2
Balance at end of period 738 351

Additional Paid-in Capital
Balance at beginning of year 1,595,440 1,560,291
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for unearned stock grant compensation (9,646) �
Series A non-cumulative preferred shares issued 193,378 �
Common shares issued 160 1,127
Exercise of stock options 12,152 3,710
Common shares retired (647) (838)
Amortization of share-based compensation 3,299 �
Other 274 198
Balance at end of period 1,794,410 1,564,488

Deferred Compensation Under Share Award Plan
Balance at beginning of year (9,646) (9,879)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for unearned stock grant compensation 9,646 �
Restricted common shares issued � �
Deferred compensation expense recognized � 1,985
Balance at end of period � (7,894)

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year 901,348 644,862
Dividends declared on preferred shares (2,667) �
Net income 132,290 115,892
Balance at end of period 1,030,971 760,754

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance at beginning of year (7,348) 45,910
Change in unrealized appreciation (decline) in value of investments, net of deferred
income tax (67,032) (74,772)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of deferred income tax (2,265) (346)
Balance at end of period (76,645) (29,208)
Total Shareholders� Equity $ 2,749,554 $ 2,288,864
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See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

Comprehensive Income
Net income $ 132,290 $ 115,892
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred income tax
Unrealized decline in value of investments:
Unrealized holding losses arising during period (67,987) (75,341)
Reclassification of net realized losses, net of income taxes, included in net income 955 569
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,265) (346)
Other comprehensive loss (69,297) (75,118)
Comprehensive Income $ 62,993 $ 40,774

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

Operating Activities
Net income $ 132,290 $ 115,892
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net realized losses 783 426
Share-based compensation 3,299 2,095
Changes in:
Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses recoverable 256,469 250,323
Unearned premiums, net of prepaid reinsurance premiums 113,179 103,071
Premiums receivable (200,073) (122,096)
Deferred acquisition costs, net (10,134) (19,429)
Funds held by reinsureds 35,771 19,927
Reinsurance balances payable 76,441 (20,032)
Paid losses and loss adjustment expenses recoverable 17,145 (2,861)
Deferred income tax assets, net (7,352) 3,646
Deposit accounting liabilities 6,542 4,180
Other liabilities 22,460 7,155
Other items, net (23,642) (14,457)
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 423,178 327,840

Investing Activities
Purchases of fixed maturity investments (4,330,266) (938,227)
Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity investments 4,121,591 548,030
Proceeds from redemptions and maturities of fixed maturity investments 83,394 74,943
Purchases of other investments (32,596) �
Proceeds from sales of other investments 5,359 1,786
Net purchases of short-term investments (444,527) (39,102)
Change in securities lending collateral 10,429 �
Purchases of furniture, equipment and other (4,602) (3,020)
Net Cash Used For Investing Activities (591,218) (355,590)

Financing Activities
Proceeds from common shares issued, net of repurchases 8,690 2,125
Net proceeds from preferred shares issued 193,527 �
Change in securities lending collateral (10,429) �
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation 2,450 �
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 194,238 2,125
Effects of exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash (769) (704)
Increase (decrease) in cash 25,429 (26,329)
Cash beginning of year 222,477 113,052
Cash end of period $ 247,906 $ 86,723
Income taxes paid, net $ 9,591 $ 15,796
Interest paid $ 42 $ 58
Declaration of preferred dividends to be paid $ 2,667 �
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ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General

Arch Capital Group Ltd. (�ACGL�) is a Bermuda public limited liability company which provides insurance and reinsurance on a worldwide basis
through its wholly owned subsidiaries.

The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (�GAAP�) and include the accounts of ACGL and its wholly owned subsidiaries (together with ACGL, the �Company�). All
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of normally recurring accruals) necessary for a fair statement of results on an
interim basis. The results of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full year or any future periods.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed
or omitted; however, management believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. This report
should be read in conjunction with the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, including the Company�s
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and the section entitled �Risk Factors.�

To facilitate period-to-period comparisons, certain amounts in the 2005 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to
the 2006 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the Company�s consolidated net income.

2. Share-Based Compensation

Stock Options

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment� (�SFAS No. 123(R)�), using the
modified prospective method of transition. Under the fair value method of accounting, compensation expense is estimated based on the fair
value of the award at the grant date and is recognized in net income over the requisite service period. Such compensation cost is reduced by
assumed forfeitures and adjusted based on actual forfeitures until vesting. Under the modified prospective approach, the fair value based method
described in SFAS No. 123(R) is applied to new awards granted after January 1, 2006. Additionally, compensation expense for unvested stock
options that are outstanding as of January 1, 2006 will be recognized in net income as the requisite service is rendered based on the grant date
fair value of those options as previously calculated under pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based
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Compensation� (�SFAS No. 123�), as amended by SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure.�
Therefore, under the modified prospective method, compensation expense is recognized beginning with the effective date of adoption of SFAS
No.123(R) for all stock option awards (i) granted after the effective date of adoption and (ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption and
that remain unvested on the date of adoption.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its share-based compensation related to stock option awards using the intrinsic value
method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees� (�APB
No. 25�), and its related interpretations permitted by SFAS No. 123, which did not require the recognition of compensation expense related to the
issuance of
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stock options so long as the quoted market price of the Company�s stock at the date of grant was less than or equal to the amount an employee
must pay to acquire the stock.

As required by the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recorded $1.1 million of after-tax share-based compensation expense, or $0.01
per basic and diluted share, related to stock option awards for the 2006 first quarter. Such amount was net of a tax benefit of $0.2 million. The
share-based compensation expense associated with stock options that have graded vesting features and vest based on service conditions only
(i) granted after the effective date of adoption is calculated on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the related options and
(ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption and that remain unvested as of the date of adoption is calculated on a graded-vesting basis as
prescribed under FASB Interpretation No. 28, �Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans�an
interpretation of APB Opinions No. 15 and 25,� over the remaining requisite service periods of the related options. These charges had no impact
on the Company�s cash flows or total shareholders� equity.

Under the modified prospective method of transition under SFAS No.123(R), the Company is not required to restate its prior period financial
statements to reflect expensing of share-based compensation under SFAS No. 123(R). Therefore, the results for the 2006 first quarter are not
comparable to the 2005 first quarter. As required by SFAS No.123(R), the Company has presented pro forma disclosures of its net income and
earnings per share for the 2005 first quarter assuming the estimated fair value of the options granted prior to January 1, 2006 is amortized to
expense over the requisite service period, as indicated below:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data) March 31, 2005

Net income, as reported $ 115,892
Total share-based employee compensation expense under fair value
method, net of income taxes (1,077)
Pro forma net income $ 114,815

Earnings per share � basic:
As reported $ 3.37
Pro forma $ 3.34
Earnings per share � diluted:
As reported $ 1.57
Pro forma $ 1.55

For purposes of disclosure in the foregoing table and for purposes of determining estimated fair value under SFAS No. 123(R), the Company has
computed the estimated fair values of share-based compensation related to stock options using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and has
applied the assumptions set forth in the following table. In September 2005, the Company�s board of directors approved a longer vesting period
for future awards to vest over a three year period as follows: one third on the anniversary of the grant date and one-third each year thereafter.
Prior to September 2005, awards generally vested over a two year period: one third on the grant date and one-third each year thereafter. The
Company increased the expected life assumption for stock options granted beginning in September 2005 to six years after considering the
increase in the vesting period, the ten year contractual term of the option awards, the historical share option exercise experience, peer data and
guidance from the Securities and Exchange Commission as contained in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 permitting the initial application of a
�simplified� method, which is based on the average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the option. Previously, the Company calculated
the estimated life based on the expectation that options would be exercised within five years on average after consideration of the vesting and
contractual terms, historical share option exercise experience and peer data. The Company based its estimate of expected volatility for options
granted in the

9
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2005 first quarter, the Company based its volatility estimate under the same method as the 2006 first quarter, using the period from
September 20, 2002 through the last day of the applicable period.

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility 21.4% 21.1%
Risk free interest rate 4.56% 4.26%
Expected option life 6.0 years 5.0 years

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions. Because the Company�s employee stock options
have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate, in management�s opinion, the existing models may not provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its
employee stock options. In addition, management will continue to assess the assumptions and methodologies used to calculate estimated fair
value of share-based compensation. Circumstances may change and additional data may become available over time, which result in changes to
these assumptions and methodologies, and which could materially impact the Company�s fair value determination.

A summary of option activity under the Company�s Long term Incentive and Share Award Plans during the 2006 first quarter is presented below:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2006
Number of

Options
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 5,637,108 $ 26.30
Granted 843,500 $ 56.25
Exercised (393,069) $ 23.75
Forfeited or expired (14,499) $ 44.95
Outstanding, end of period 6,073,040 $ 30.58
Exercisable, end of period 4,713,519 $ 24.47

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the Company�s outstanding and exercisable stock options at March 31, 2006 was 6.6 years
and 5.7 years, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of the Company�s outstanding and exercisable stock options at March 31, 2006 was
$165.0 million and $156.8 million, respectively. The Company received proceeds of approximately $9.3 million from the exercise of stock
options during the 2006 first quarter.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options during the 2006 first quarter was $18.13 per option based on the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the 2006 first quarter was approximately $12.1 million and represents
the difference between the exercise price of the option and the closing market price of the Company�s common shares on the exercise dates. As
of March 31, 2006, there was approximately $18.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options. Such cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.63 years.
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At March 31, 2006, approximately 1,600,000 and 7,000 shares are available for grant under the 2005 and 2002 share award plans, respectively.
The Company issues new shares upon exercise of stock options and when granting restricted shares. For a description of the Company�s share
award plans and the number of shares
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authorized for awards of options or other equity instruments, refer to Note 13, �Share Capital�Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plans,� of the
notes accompanying the Company�s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005, contained in the Company�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Restricted Common Shares and Restricted Units

As discussed above, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation
arrangements in accordance with SFAS No.123(R), which governs the accounting for all share-based compensation. Under the fair value method
of accounting pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R), the fair value for restricted shares and units is measured by the grant-date price of the Company�s
shares. No value is attributed to awards that employees forfeit because they fail to satisfy vesting conditions. As such, the number of shares
granted is reduced by assumed forfeitures and adjusted based on actual forfeitures until vesting. Such expense is amortized over the requisite
service period of the related awards. Restricted share and unit awards granted prior to September 2005 generally vest over a two year period:
one-third on the grant date and one-third each year thereafter. Restricted share and unit awards granted subsequent to September 2005 generally
vest over a three year period: one third on the first anniversary of the grant date and one-third each year thereafter.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its share-based compensation related to restricted share and unit awards using the intrinsic
value method of accounting in accordance with APB No. 25 and its related interpretations. Compensation expense equal to the market value of
the restricted share awards at the measurement date was amortized and recorded in net income over the vesting period. The Company�s unearned
compensation balance of $9.6 million as of December 31, 2005, which was accounted for under APB No. 25, was reclassified into additional
paid-in capital upon adoption of SFAS No.123(R).

The Company recorded $1.7 million of share-based compensation expense, net of a tax benefit of $0.3 million, related to restricted share and
unit awards for the 2006 first quarter as required by the provisions of SFAS No.123(R), compared to $1.7 million, net of a tax benefit of $0.4
million, for the 2005 first quarter. The share-based compensation expense associated with restricted share and unit awards that have graded
vesting features and vest based on service conditions only (i) granted after the effective date of adoption is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service periods of the related awards and (ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption and that remain unvested as of the
date of adoption is calculated on a graded-vesting basis over the remaining requisite service periods of the related awards. These charges had no
impact on the Company�s cash flows or total shareholders� equity.

A summary of restricted share activity under the Company�s Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plans during the 2006 first quarter is
presented below:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2006

Nonvested
Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested balance, beginning of year 666,504 $ 33.14
Granted 106,143 $ 56.27
Vested (52,045) $ 36.98
Forfeited (1,476) $ 46.64
Unvested balance, end of period 719,126 $ 36.25
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As of March 31, 2006, 95,870 restricted units were outstanding with an aggregate intrinsic value of $5.5 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of
6,375 restricted units converted during the 2006 first quarter was $0.3 million. As of March 31, 2006, there were $13.7 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested restricted share and unit awards granted under the Company�s Long Term
Incentive and Share Award Plans. The unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested restricted share and unit awards are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.25 years and 1.16 years, respectively. The total weighted average fair value of restricted shares
that vested during the 2006 first quarter was $2.9 million, or $56.33 per share.

3. Share Transactions

On February 1, 2006, ACGL completed a public offering of $200.0 million principal amount of 8.0% series A non-cumulative preferred shares
(�Series A Preferred Shares�) with a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share and received net proceeds of $193.5 million. The net proceeds were
used to support the underwriting activities of ACGL�s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. ACGL has the right to redeem all or a portion of
the Series A Preferred Shares at a redemption price of $25.00 per share on or after February 1, 2011. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares
are non-cumulative. Consequently, in the event dividends are not declared on the Series A Preferred Shares for any dividend period, holders of
Series A Preferred Shares will not be entitled to receive a dividend for such period, and such undeclared dividend will not accrue and will not be
payable. Holders of Series A Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive dividend payments only when, as and if declared by ACGL�s board of
directors or a duly authorized committee of the board of directors. Any such dividends will be payable from the date of original issue on a
non-cumulative basis, quarterly in arrears on the 15th day of February, May, August and November of each year, commencing on May 15, 2006.
To the extent declared, these dividends will accumulate, with respect to each dividend period, in an amount per share equal to 8.0% of the
liquidation preference per annum.

On February 23, 2006 and May 3, 2006, ACGL�s board of directors declared dividends with respect to the Series A Preferred Shares for the
dividend period from February 1, 2006 through May 14, 2006, in an aggregate amount of $4.6 million, to be payable out of lawfully available
funds for the payment of dividends under Bermuda law on May 15, 2006 to holders of record as of May 1, 2006. In addition, effective June 30,
2006 and August 14, 2006, respectively, ACGL�s board of directors declared additional partial dividends with respect to the outstanding Series A
Preferred Shares for the partial dividend periods from May 15, 2006 through June 30, 2006 and July 1, 2006 through August 14, 2006, in
aggregate amounts of $2.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively, in each case, to be payable out of lawfully available funds for the payment of
dividends under Bermuda law on August 15, 2006 to holders of record as of August 1, 2006, unless determined otherwise by the Board or the
Executive Committee of the Board on or prior to the applicable effective date.
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4. Segment Information

The Company classifies its businesses into two underwriting segments �insurance and reinsurance � and a corporate and other segment
(non-underwriting). The Company�s insurance and reinsurance operating segments each have segment managers who are responsible for the
overall profitability of their respective segments and who are directly accountable to the Company�s chief operating decision makers, the
President and Chief Executive Officer of ACGL and the Chief Financial Officer of ACGL. The chief operating decision makers do not assess
performance, measure return on equity or make resource allocation decisions on a line of business basis. The Company determined its reportable
operating segments using the management approach described in SFAS No. 131, �Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.�

Management measures segment performance based on underwriting income or loss. The Company does not manage its assets by segment and,
accordingly, investment income is not allocated to each underwriting segment. In addition, other revenue and expense items are not evaluated by
segment. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those used for the preparation of the Company�s consolidated financial
statements. Inter-segment insurance business is allocated to the segment accountable for the underwriting results.

The insurance segment consists of the Company�s insurance underwriting subsidiaries which primarily write on both an admitted and
non-admitted basis. The insurance segment consists of eight specialty product lines: casualty; construction and surety; executive assurance;
healthcare; professional liability; programs; property, marine and aviation; and other (consisting of collateralized protection business).

The reinsurance segment consists of the Company�s reinsurance underwriting subsidiaries. The reinsurance segment generally seeks to write
significant lines on specialty property and casualty reinsurance treaties. Classes of business include: casualty; marine and aviation; other
specialty; property catastrophe; property excluding property catastrophe (losses on a single risk, both excess of loss and pro rata); and other
(consisting of non-traditional and casualty clash business).

The corporate and other segment (non-underwriting) includes net investment income, other fee income, net of related expenses, other expenses
incurred by the Company, interest expense, net realized gains or losses, net foreign exchange gains or losses and income taxes. In addition,
results for the corporate and other segment include dividends on the Company�s Series A Preferred Shares (see Note 3, �Share Transactions�).

13
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The following tables set forth an analysis of the Company�s underwriting income by segment, together with a reconciliation of underwriting
income to net income available to common shareholders:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2006
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Insurance Reinsurance Total

Gross premiums written (1) $ 615,484 $ 564,668 $ 1,167,814
Net premiums written 397,254 476,465 873,719

Net premiums earned $ 380,254 $ 381,347 $ 761,601
Policy-related fee income 937 � 937
Other underwriting-related fee income 467 401 868
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (248,002) (220,176) (468,178)
Acquisition expenses, net (37,885) (91,787) (129,672)
Other operating expenses (62,076) (13,252) (75,328)
Underwriting income $ 33,695 $ 56,533 90,228

Net investment income 80,326
Net realized losses (3,383)
Other expenses (7,649)
Interest expense (5,555)
Net foreign exchange losses (10,253)
Income before income taxes 143,714
Income tax expense (11,424)

Net income 132,290
Preferred dividends (2,667)
Net income available to common shareholders $ 129,623

Underwriting Ratios
Loss ratio 65.2% 57.7% 61.5%
Acquisition expense ratio (2) 9.7% 24.1% 16.9%
Other operating expense ratio 16.3% 3.5% 9.9%
Combined ratio 91.2% 85.3% 88.3%

(1) Certain amounts included in the gross premiums written of each segment are related to intersegment transactions. Accordingly, the sum
of gross premiums written for each segment does not agree to the total gross premiums written as shown in the table above due to the
elimination of intersegment transactions in the total. The insurance segment and reinsurance segment results include $0.8 million and
$11.5 million, respectively, of gross and net premiums written and $0.9 million and $12.8 million, respectively, of net premiums earned
assumed through intersegment transactions.

(2) The acquisition expense ratio is adjusted to include policy-related fee income.

14

Edgar Filing: ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD. - Form 10-Q

26



(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2005
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Insurance Reinsurance Total

Gross premiums written (1) $ 506,744 $ 488,795 $ 980,692
Net premiums written 322,108 477,693 799,801

Net premiums earned $ 321,036 $ 376,032 $ 697,068
Policy-related fee income 917 � 917
Other underwriting-related fee income 572 4,623 5,195
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (206,862) (218,674) (425,536)
Acquisition expenses, net (26,681) (99,452) (126,133)
Other operating expenses (57,287) (10,916) (68,203)
Underwriting income $ 31,695 $ 51,613 83,308

Net investment income 49,916
Net realized gains 461
Other expenses (5,972)
Interest expense (5,636)
Net foreign exchange gains 3,237
Income before income taxes 125,314
Income tax expense (9,422)

Net income 115,892
Preferred dividends �
Net income available to common shareholders $ 115,892

Underwriting Ratios
Loss ratio 64.4% 58.2% 61.0%
Acquisition expense ratio (2) 8.0% 26.4% 18.0%
Other operating expense ratio 17.8% 2.9% 9.8%
Combined ratio 90.2% 87.5% 88.8%

(1) Certain amounts included in the gross premiums written of each segment are related to intersegment transactions. Accordingly, the sum
of gross premiums written for each segment does not agree to the total gross premiums written as shown in the table above due to the
elimination of intersegment transactions in the total. The insurance segment and reinsurance segment results include $0.8 million and
$14.0 million, respectively, of gross and net premiums written and $1.2 million and $16.4 million, respectively, of net premiums earned
assumed through intersegment transactions.

(2) The acquisition expense ratio is adjusted to include policy-related fee income.
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Set forth below is summary information regarding net premiums written and earned by major line of business and net premiums written by client
location for the insurance segment:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

INSURANCE SEGMENT
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Amount

% of
Total Amount

% of
Total

Net premiums written (1)
Construction and surety $ 80,629 20.3 $ 62,440 19.4
Property, marine and aviation 68,646 17.3 42,092 13.1
Professional liability 62,454 15.7 46,901 14.6
Programs 60,534 15.2 53,267 16.5
Casualty 50,750 12.8 63,799 19.8
Executive assurance 45,591 11.5 24,017 7.4
Healthcare 18,115 4.6 16,436 5.1
Other 10,535 2.6 13,156 4.1
Total $ 397,254 100.0 $ 322,108 100.0

Net premiums earned (1)
Construction and surety $ 66,703 17.5 $ 50,664 15.8
Property, marine and aviation 62,968 16.6 43,549 13.6
Professional liability 54,045 14.2 46,802 14.5
Programs 57,389 15.1 55,311 17.2
Casualty 62,808 16.5 69,266 21.6
Executive assurance 50,076 13.2 24,635 7.7
Healthcare 16,677 4.4 17,000 5.3
Other 9,588 2.5 13,809 4.3
Total $ 380,254 100.0 $ 321,036 100.0

Net premiums written by client location (1)
United States $ 324,465 81.7 $ 285,924 88.8
Europe 47,580 12.0 27,106 8.4
Other 25,209 6.3 9,078 2.8
Total $ 397,254 100.0 $ 322,108 100.0

(1) Insurance segment results include premiums written and earned assumed through intersegment transactions of $0.8 million and $0.9
million, respectively, for the 2006 first quarter and $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively, for the 2005 first quarter. Insurance
segment results exclude premiums written and earned ceded through intersegment transactions of $11.5 million and $12.8 million,
respectively, for the 2006 first quarter and $14.0 million and $16.4 million, respectively, for the 2005 first quarter.
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The following table sets forth the reinsurance segment�s net premiums written and earned by major line of business and type of business, together
with net premiums written by client location:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2006 2005

REINSURANCE SEGMENT
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Amount

% of
Total Amount

% of
Total

Net premiums written (1)
Casualty $ 162,988 34.2 $ 210,869 44.1
Property excluding property catastrophe 106,782 22.4 88,195 18.5
Other specialty 93,264 19.6 91,029 19.1
Property catastrophe 70,336 14.7 44,563 9.3
Marine and aviation 41,352 8.7 30,029 6.3
Other 1,743 0.4 13,008 2.7
Total $ 476,465 100.0 $ 477,693 100.0

Net premiums earned (1)
Casualty $ 171,197 44.9 $ 213,260 56.7
Property excluding property catastrophe 79,620 20.9 57,495 15.3
Other specialty 57,919 15.2 50,754 13.5
Property catastrophe 49,106 12.8 24,761 6.6
Marine and aviation 23,650 6.2 21,991 5.8
Other (145) (0.0) 7,771 2.1
Total $ 381,347 100.0 $ 376,032 100.0

Net premiums written (1)
Pro rata $ 272,534 57.2 $ 319,647 66.9
Excess of loss 203,931 42.8 158,046 33.1
Total $ 476,465 100.0 $ 477,693 100.0

Net premiums earned (1)
Pro rata $ 295,288 77.4 $ 277,612 73.8
Excess of loss 86,059 22.6 98,420 26.2
Total $ 381,347 100.0 $ 376,032 100.0

Net premiums written by client location (1)
United States $ 277,315 58.2 $ 259,414 54.3
Europe 127,263 26.7 155,495 32.5
Bermuda 43,839 9.2 27,064 5.7
Canada 9,556 2.0 21,336 4.5
Asia and Pacific 6,389 1.4 5,570 1.2
Other 12,103 2.5 8,814 1.8
Total $ 476,465 100.0 $ 477,693 100.0

(1) Reinsurance segment results include premiums written and earned assumed through intersegment transactions of $11.5 million and $12.8
million, respectively, for the 2006 first quarter and $14.0 million and $16.4 million, respectively, for the 2005 first quarter. Reinsurance
segment results exclude premiums written and earned ceded through intersegment transactions of $0.8 million and $0.9 million,
respectively, for the 2006 first quarter and $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively, for the 2005 first quarter.
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5. Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Company�s insurance subsidiaries cede a substantial portion of their premium through pro rata, excess of
loss and facultative reinsurance agreements. The Company�s reinsurance subsidiaries purchase retrocessional coverage as part of their risk
management program. In addition, the Company�s reinsurance subsidiaries participate in �common account� retrocessional arrangements for
certain pro rata treaties. Such arrangements reduce the effect of individual or aggregate losses to all companies participating on such treaties,
including the reinsurers, such as the Company�s reinsurance subsidiaries, and the ceding company. Reinsurance recoverables are recorded as
assets, predicated on the reinsurers� ability to meet their obligations under the reinsurance agreements. If the reinsurers are unable to satisfy their
obligations under the agreements, the Company�s insurance or reinsurance subsidiaries would be liable for such defaulted amounts.

The effects of reinsurance on the Company�s written and earned premiums and losses and loss adjustment expenses with unaffiliated reinsurers
were as follows:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Premiums Written
Direct $ 601,699 $ 498,325
Assumed 566,115 482,367
Ceded (294,095) (180,891)
Net $ 873,719 $ 799,801

Premiums Earned
Direct $ 575,418 $ 489,811
Assumed 419,277 391,391
Ceded (233,094) (184,134)
Net $ 761,601 $ 697,068

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
Direct $ 382,105 $ 300,714
Assumed 246,609 221,362
Ceded (160,536) (96,540)
Net $ 468,178 $ 425,536

The Company monitors the financial condition of its reinsurers and attempts to place coverages only with substantial, financially sound
carriers. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, approximately 94.0% and 92.6%, respectively, of the Company�s reinsurance
recoverables on paid and unpaid losses (not including prepaid reinsurance premiums) of $1.51 billion and $1.47 billion, respectively,
were due from carriers which had an A.M. Best rating of �A-� or better. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the largest
reinsurance recoverables from any one carrier were less than 5.6% of the Company�s total shareholders� equity.
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6. Deposit Accounting

Certain assumed reinsurance contracts are deemed, under current financial accounting standards, not to transfer insurance risk, and are
accounted for using the deposit method of accounting. However, it is possible that the Company could incur financial losses on such contracts.
For those contracts that contain an element of underwriting risk, the estimated profit margin is deferred and amortized over the contract period
and such amount is included in the Company�s underwriting results. When the estimated profit margin is explicit, the margin is reflected as fee
income and any adverse financial results on such contracts are reflected as incurred losses. For the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, the Company
recorded $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of fee income on such contracts. When the estimated profit margin is implicit, the margin is
reflected as an offset to paid losses and any adverse financial results on such contracts are reflected as incurred losses. For the 2006 and 2005
first quarters, the Company recorded $0.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively, as an offset to paid losses on such contracts. On a notional
basis, the amount of premiums from those contracts that contain an element of underwriting risk was $6.0 million and $6.1 million, respectively,
for the 2006 and 2005 first quarters.

In making any determination to account for a contract using the deposit method of accounting, the Company is required to make many estimates
and judgments under the current financial accounting standards. Such standards are currently under review by the FASB.

7. Investment Information

The following table summarizes the Company�s invested assets:

(Unaudited)
March 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value $ 5,414,156 $ 5,280,987
Fixed maturities pledged under securities lending agreements, at fair value (1) 794,583 862,766
Total fixed maturities 6,208,739 6,143,753
Short-term investments available for sale, at fair value 1,052,753 681,887
Short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements, at fair value (1) 63,700 1,100
Other investments, at fair value 102,351 70,233
Total invested assets (1) $ 7,427,543 $ 6,896,973

(1) In securities lending transactions, the Company receives collateral in excess of the market value of the fixed maturities and short-term
investments pledged under securities lending agreements. For purposes of this table, the Company has excluded $883.0 million and $893.4
million, respectively, of collateral received which is reflected as �short-term investment of funds received under securities lending agreements, at
fair value� and included $858.3 million and $863.9 million, respectively, of �fixed maturities and short-term investments pledged under securities
lending agreements, at fair value� at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
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Fixed Maturities and Fixed Maturities Pledged Under Securities Lending Agreements

The following table summarizes the Company�s fixed maturities and fixed maturities pledged under securities lending agreements:

(U.S. dollars in thousands)
Estimated
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Amortized

Cost

March 31, 2006 (Unaudited):
U.S. government and government agencies $ 1,922,970 $ 849 $ (43,909) $ 1,966,030
Corporate bonds 1,563,809 3,232 (21,356) 1,581,933
Asset backed securities 721,420 240 (4,836) 726,016
Municipal bonds 698,711 3,280 (8,229) 703,660
Commercial mortgage backed securities 526,752 67 (10,816) 537,501
Mortgage backed securities 428,918 6,897 (20,527) 442,548
Non-U.S. government securities 346,159 104 (2,398) 348,453
Total $ 6,208,739 $ 14,669 $ (112,071) $ 6,306,141

December 31, 2005:
U.S. government and government agencies $ 2,106,866 $ 18,152 $ (10,001) $ 2,098,715
Corporate bonds 1,595,559 2,663 (10,345) 1,603,241
Municipal bonds 623,822 5,039 (4,006) 622,789
Asset backed securities 591,401 194 (3,348) 594,555
Commercial mortgage backed securities 469,984 292 (5,292) 474,984
Non-U.S. government securities 379,328 3,756 (20,483) 396,055
Mortgage backed securities 376,793 653 (1,576) 377,716
Total $ 6,143,753 $ 30,749 $ (55,051) $ 6,168,055

The credit quality distribution of the Company�s fixed maturities and fixed maturities pledged under securities lending agreements are shown
below:

(Unaudited)
March 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

(U.S. dollars in thousands)
Rating (1)

Estimated
Fair Value % of Total

Estimated
Fair Value % of Total

AAA $ 4,721,987 76.1 $ 4,692,579 76.4
AA 744,938 12.0 654,129 10.6
A 530,967 8.6 538,570 8.8
BBB 93,924 1.5 146,325 2.4
BB 21,655 0.3 24,472 0.4
B 56,686 0.9 53,178 0.9
Lower than B 6,571 0.1 7,388 0.1
Not rated 32,011 0.5 27,112 0.4
Total $ 6,208,739 100.0 $ 6,143,753 100.0

(1) Ratings as assigned by Standard & Poor�s.
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Securities Lending Agreements

The Company participates in a securities lending program under which certain of its fixed income portfolio securities are loaned to third parties,
primarily major brokerage firms, for short periods of time through a lending agent. Such securities have been reclassified as �Fixed maturities and
short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements.� The Company maintains control over the securities it lends, retains the
earnings and cash flows associated with the loaned securities and receives a fee from the borrower for the temporary use of the securities.
Collateral received, primarily in the form of cash, is required at a rate of 102% of the market value of the loaned securities (or 105% of the
market value of the loaned securities when the collateral and loaned securities are denominated in non-U.S. currencies) including accrued
investment income and is monitored and maintained by the lending agent. Such collateral is reinvested and is reflected as �Short-term investment
of funds received under securities lending agreements, at fair value.� At March 31, 2006, the fair value and amortized cost of fixed maturities and
short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements were $858.3 million and $881.8 million, respectively, while collateral
received totaled $883.0 million at fair value and amortized cost. At December 31, 2005, the fair value and amortized cost of fixed maturities and
short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements were $863.9 million and $858.4 million, respectively, while collateral
received totaled $893.4 million at fair value and amortized cost.

Investment-Related Derivatives

The Company�s investment strategy allows for the use of derivative securities. Derivative instruments may be used to enhance investment
performance, to replicate investment positions or to manage market exposures and duration risk that would be allowed under the Company�s
investment guidelines if implemented in other ways. In the 2006 first quarter, the Company began using exchange traded Treasury note futures
as part of the management of its stock index fund discussed below. The notional value of the net short position for Treasury note futures was
$12.5 million at March 31, 2006. The Company also began using equity futures to replicate equity investment positions in the 2006 first quarter.
The fair values of those derivatives are based on quoted market prices. The notional value of the net long position for equity futures was $55.8
million at March 31, 2006. The Company recorded net realized gains of $0.6 million in the 2006 first quarter related to changes in the fair value
of all futures contracts. At March 31, 2006, the carrying value and fair value of all futures contracts was a liability of $0.2 million.

Other Investments

The following table details the Company�s other investments:

(Unaudited)
March 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

(U.S. dollars in thousands)
Estimated
Fair Value Cost

Estimated
Fair Value Cost

Equity securities $ 51,831 $ 46,231 $ 27,900 $ 25,899
Investment funds 38,691 38,651 28,719 28,746
Privately held securities 11,829 4,218 13,614 5,194
Total $ 102,351 $ 89,100 $ 70,233 $ 59,839

Other investments include (i) equity securities consisting of the Company�s investments in certain stock index funds and other preferred stocks;
(ii) investment funds consisting of senior secured floating rate loans and a mezzanine fund that invests in mezzanine debt and equity investments
and in second lien and senior secured bank loans; and (iii) privately held securities. The Company�s investment commitments related to its other
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Restricted Assets

The Company is required to maintain assets on deposit, which primarily consist of fixed maturities, with various regulatory authorities to support
its insurance and reinsurance operations. The assets on deposit are available to settle insurance and reinsurance liabilities to third parties. The
Company also has investments in segregated portfolios primarily to provide collateral or guarantees for letters of credit to third parties. The
following table details the value of restricted assets:

(Unaudited)
March 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
Deposits with U.S. regulatory authorities $ 162,680 $ 173,313
Deposits with non-U.S. regulatory authorities 16,913 17,029
Assets used for collateral or guarantees 731,621 745,084
Trust funds 73,148 69,468
Total restricted assets $ 984,362 $ 1,004,894

In addition, Arch Reinsurance Ltd. (�Arch Re Bermuda�) maintains assets in trust accounts as collateral for insurance and reinsurance transactions
with affiliated companies. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, such amounts approximated $2.83 billion and $2.77 billion, respectively.

Net Investment Income

The components of net investment income were derived from the following sources:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
Fixed maturities $ 69,424 $ 50,936
Short-term investments 9,787 597
Other 3,884 361
Gross investment income 83,095 51,894
Investment expenses (2,769) (1,978)
Net investment income $ 80,326 $ 49,916

Net Realized Gains (Losses)

Net realized gains (losses) were as follows:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
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March 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
Fixed maturities $ (4,153) $ (280)
Other investments 2,728 (146)
Other (1,958) 887
Net realized gains (losses) $ (3,383) $ 461
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Currently, the Company�s portfolio is actively managed on a total return basis within certain guidelines. The effect of financial market
movements will influence the recognition of net realized gains and losses as the portfolio is adjusted and rebalanced. For the 2006 first quarter,
net realized losses on the Company�s fixed maturities of $4.2 million included a provision of $5.3 million for declines in the market value of
investments held in the Company�s available for sale portfolio which were considered to be other-than-temporary based on a review performed
during the 2006 first quarter. The declines in market value on such securities were primarily due to the current interest rate environment. For the
2005 first quarter, the Company did not consider any declines in the market value of investments to be other-than-temporary. The balance of
$1.1 million in net realized gains on the Company�s fixed maturities in the 2006 first quarter resulted from the sale of securities, compared to net
realized losses from the sale of fixed maturities of $0.3 million in the 2005 first quarter. In the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, net realized gains or
losses from the sale of fixed maturities resulted from the Company�s decisions to reduce credit exposure, changes in duration targets and sales
related to rebalancing the portfolio.

8. Earnings Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share:

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005

Basic earnings per common share:
Net income $ 132,290 $ 115,892
Preferred dividends (2,667) �
Net income available to common shareholders $ 129,623 $ 115,892
Divided by:
Weighted average common shares outstanding (1) 72,899,249 34,364,818
Basic earnings per common share $ 1.78 $ 3.37

Diluted earnings per common share:
Net income $ 132,290 $ 115,892
Preferred dividends (2,667) �
Net income available to common shareholders $ 129,623 $ 115,892
Divided by:
Weighted average common shares outstanding (1) 72,899,249 34,364,818
Effect of dilutive securities:
Series A convertible preference shares � 37,331,402
Warrants � 48,327
Nonvested restricted shares 438,200 400,266
Stock options 2,517,860 1,868,733
Weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding � diluted 75,855,309 74,013,546
Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.71 $ 1.57

(1) For the 2005 period, basic weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding excluded 37,331,402 series A
convertible preference shares. Such shares were included in the diluted weighted average common shares and common share
equivalents outstanding. During the 2005 fourth quarter, all remaining series A convertible preference shares were converted into an
equal number of common shares.

Certain stock options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share where the exercise price of the stock options exceeded
the average market price and would have been anti-dilutive. The number of excluded stock options were 504,495 and 36,611, respectively, for
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the 2006 and 2005 first quarters.
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9. Income Taxes

ACGL is incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and, under current Bermuda law, is not obligated to pay any taxes in Bermuda based upon
income or capital gains. The Company has received a written undertaking from the Minister of Finance in Bermuda under the Exempted
Undertakings Tax Protection Act of 1966 that, in the event that any legislation is enacted in Bermuda imposing any tax computed on profits,
income, gain or appreciation on any capital asset, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax will not be applicable to
ACGL or any of its operations until March 28, 2016. This undertaking does not, however, prevent the imposition of taxes on any person
ordinarily resident in Bermuda or any company in respect of its ownership of real property or leasehold interests in Bermuda.

ACGL will be subject to U.S. federal income tax only to the extent that it derives U.S. source income that is subject to U.S. withholding tax or
income that is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the U.S. and is not exempt from U.S. tax under an applicable
income tax treaty with the U.S. ACGL will be subject to a withholding tax on dividends from U.S. investments and interest from certain U.S.
taxpayers. ACGL does not consider itself (or its non-U.S. subsidiaries) to be engaged in a trade or business within the U.S. and, consequently,
does not expect it or such non-U.S. subsidiaries to be subject to direct U.S. income taxation. However, because there is uncertainty as to the
activities which constitute being engaged in a trade or business within the United States, there can be no assurances that the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service will not contend successfully that ACGL or its non-U.S. subsidiaries are engaged in a trade or business in the United States. If
ACGL or any of its non-U.S. subsidiaries were subject to U.S. income tax, ACGL�s shareholders� equity and earnings could be materially
adversely affected. ACGL�s U.S. subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their worldwide income. ACGL�s U.K. subsidiaries are subject
to U.K. corporation tax on their worldwide income.

ACGL changed its legal domicile from the United States to Bermuda in November 2000. Some U.S. insurance companies have been lobbying
Congress to pass legislation intended to eliminate certain perceived tax advantages of U.S. insurance companies with Bermuda affiliates
resulting principally from reinsurance between or among U.S. insurance companies and their Bermuda affiliates. This legislation, if passed, and
other changes in U.S. tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof to address these issues could materially adversely affect the Company.

The Company�s income tax provision resulted in an effective tax rate on income before income taxes of 7.9% for the 2006 first quarter, compared
to 7.5% for the 2005 first quarter. The Company�s effective tax rate, which is based upon the expected annual effective tax rate, may fluctuate
from period to period based on the relative mix of income reported by jurisdiction due primarily to the varying tax rates in each jurisdiction. The
Company�s remaining valuation allowance related to its deferred income tax assets is $1.4 million at March 31, 2006.

10. Transactions with Related Parties

In connection with the Company�s information technology initiative in 2002, the Company entered into arrangements with two software
companies, which provide document management systems and information and research tools to insurance underwriters, in which John
Pasquesi, Vice Chairman of ACGL�s board of directors, holds a minority ownership interest. One of the agreements was terminated in July 2005,
and the other arrangement is variable based on usage. The Company made payments under such arrangement of approximately $0.1 million in
the 2006 and 2005 first quarters.
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11. Contingencies Relating to the Sale of Prior Reinsurance Operations

On May 5, 2000, the Company sold the prior reinsurance operations of Arch Reinsurance Company (�Arch Re U.S.�) pursuant to an agreement
entered into as of January 10, 2000 with Folksamerica Reinsurance Company and Folksamerica Holding Company (collectively, �Folksamerica�).
Folksamerica Reinsurance Company assumed Arch Re U.S.�s liabilities under the reinsurance agreements transferred in the asset sale and Arch
Re U.S. transferred to Folksamerica Reinsurance Company assets estimated in an aggregate amount equal in book value to the book value of the
liabilities assumed. The Folksamerica transaction was structured as a transfer and assumption agreement (and not reinsurance) and, accordingly,
the loss reserves (and any related reinsurance recoverables) relating to the transferred business are not included as assets or liabilities on the
Company�s balance sheet. Folksamerica assumed Arch Re U.S.�s rights and obligations under the reinsurance agreements transferred in the asset
sale. The reinsureds under such agreements were notified that Folksamerica had assumed Arch Re U.S.�s obligations and that, unless the
reinsureds object to the assumption, Arch Re U.S. would be released from its obligations to those reinsured. None of such reinsureds objected to
the assumption. However, Arch Re U.S. will continue to be liable under those reinsurance agreements if the notice is found not to be an effective
release by the reinsureds. Folksamerica has agreed to indemnify the Company for any losses arising out of the reinsurance agreements
transferred to Folksamerica Reinsurance Company in the asset sale. However, in the event that Folksamerica refuses or is unable to perform its
obligations to the Company, Arch Re U.S. may incur losses relating to the reinsurance agreements transferred in the asset sale.
Folksamerica�s A.M. Best rating was �A� (Excellent) at March 31, 2006.

Under the terms of the agreement, in 2000, the Company had also purchased reinsurance protection covering the Company�s transferred aviation
business to reduce the net financial loss to Folksamerica on any large commercial airline catastrophe to $5.4 million, net of reinstatement
premiums. Although the Company believes that any such net financial loss will not exceed $5.4 million, the Company has agreed to reimburse
Folksamerica if a loss is incurred that exceeds $5.4 million for aviation losses under certain circumstances prior to May 5, 2003. The Company
also made representations and warranties to Folksamerica about the Company and the business transferred to Folksamerica for which the
Company retains exposure for certain periods, and made certain other agreements. In addition, the Company retained its tax and employee
benefit liabilities and other liabilities not assumed by Folksamerica, including all liabilities not arising under reinsurance agreements transferred
to Folksamerica in the asset sale and all liabilities (other than liabilities arising under reinsurance agreements) arising out of or relating to a
certain managing underwriting agency. Although Folksamerica has not asserted that any amount is currently due under any of the indemnities
provided by the Company under the asset purchase agreement, Folksamerica has indicated a potential indemnity claim under the agreement in
the event of the occurrence of certain future events. Based on all available information, the Company has denied the validity of any such
potential claim.

12. Debt and Financing Arrangements

Senior Notes

On May 4, 2004, ACGL completed a public offering of $300 million principal amount of 7.35% senior notes (�Senior Notes�) due May 1, 2034
and received net proceeds of $296.4 million. ACGL used $200 million of the net proceeds to repay all amounts outstanding under a revolving
credit agreement. The Senior Notes are ACGL�s senior unsecured obligations and rank equally with all of its existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness. Interest payments on the Senior Notes are due on May 1st and November 1st of each year. ACGL may redeem the Senior Notes at
any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, at a �make-whole� redemption price. For the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, interest expense on
the Senior Notes was approximately $5.5 million.
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Letter of Credit and Revolving Credit Facilities

On November 29, 2005, the Company entered into a five-year agreement, as amended on April 18, 2006, (�Credit Agreement�) for a $300 million
unsecured revolving loan and letter of credit facility and a $500 million secured letter of credit facility. The $300 million unsecured revolving
loan is also available for the issuance of unsecured letters of credit up to $100 million for Arch Re U.S. Borrowings of revolving loans may be
made by ACGL and Arch Re U.S. at a variable rate based on LIBOR or an alternative base rate at the option of the Company. Secured letters of
credit are available for issuance on behalf of the Company�s U.S.-domiciled insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries and, following the
amendment in April 2006, Arch Insurance Company (Europe) Limited.

Issuance of letters of credit and borrowings under the Credit Agreement are subject to the Company�s compliance with certain covenants and
conditions, including absence of a material adverse change. These covenants require, among other things, that the Company maintain a debt to
shareholders� equity ratio of not greater than 0.35 to 1 and shareholders� equity in excess of $1.5 billion plus 25% of future aggregate net income
for each semi-annual period (not including any future net losses) beginning after June 30, 2005 and 25% of future aggregate proceeds from the
issuance of common or preferred equity, that the Company maintain minimum unencumbered cash and investment grade securities in the
amount of $300 million and that the Company�s principal insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries maintain at least a �B++� rating from A.M. Best.
In addition, certain of the Company�s subsidiaries which are parties to the Credit Agreement are required to maintain minimum shareholders�
equity levels. The Company was in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Agreement at March 31, 2006. The Credit Agreement
expires on November 29, 2010.

Including the secured letter of credit portion of the Credit Agreement and another letter of credit facility (together, the �LOC Facilities�), the
Company has access to letter of credit facilities for up to a total of $1.0 billion. The principal purpose of the LOC Facilities is to issue, as
required, evergreen standby letters of credit in favor of primary insurance or reinsurance counterparties with which it has entered into
reinsurance arrangements to ensure that such counterparties are permitted to take credit for reinsurance obtained from the Company�s reinsurance
subsidiaries in United States jurisdictions where such subsidiaries are not licensed or otherwise admitted as an insurer, as required under
insurance regulations in the United States, and to comply with requirements of Lloyd�s of London in connection with qualifying quota share and
other arrangements. The amount of letters of credit issued is driven by, among other things, the timing and payment of catastrophe losses, loss
development of existing reserves, the payment pattern of such reserves, the further expansion of the Company�s business and the loss experience
of such business. When issued, certain letters of credit are secured by a portion of the Company�s investment portfolio. In addition, the LOC
Facilities also require the maintenance of certain covenants, which the Company was in compliance with at March 31, 2006. At such date, the
Company had approximately $588.4 million in outstanding letters of credit under the LOC Facilities, which were secured by investments
totaling $663.4 million. The other letter of credit facility was amended and restated in January 2006. It is anticipated that the LOC Facilities will
be renewed (or replaced) on expiry, but such renewal (or replacement) will be subject to the availability of credit from banks which the
Company utilizes. In addition to letters of credit, the Company has and may establish insurance trust accounts in the U.S. and Canada to secure
its reinsurance amounts payable as required.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Variable Interest Entities

The Company concluded that, under FASB Interpretation No. 46R (�FIN 46R�), �Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,� that it is required to
consolidate the assets, liabilities and results of operations (if any) of a certain managing general agency in which one of its subsidiaries has an
investment. Such agency ceased producing business in 1999 and is currently running-off its operations. Based on current information, there are
no assets or liabilities of such agency required to be reflected on the face of the Company�s consolidated financial statements that are not, or have
not been previously, otherwise reflected therein.

On December 29, 2005, Arch Re Bermuda, the Company�s Bermuda-based reinsurer, entered into a quota share reinsurance treaty with Flatiron
Re Ltd., a newly-formed Bermuda reinsurance company, pursuant to which Flatiron Re Ltd. is assuming a 45% quota share (the �Treaty�) of
certain lines of property and marine business underwritten by Arch Re Bermuda for unaffiliated third parties for the 2006 and 2007 underwriting
years (January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2007). The quota share is subject to decrease by Arch Re Bermuda under certain circumstances. In
addition, in certain circumstances, Flatiron Re Ltd. may extend at its option the coverage provided by the Treaty to Arch Re Bermuda�s 2008
underwriting year. As a result of the terms of the Treaty, the Company has determined that Flatiron Re Ltd. is a variable interest entity.
However, Arch Re Bermuda is not the primary beneficiary of Flatiron Re Ltd. and, as such, the Company is not required to consolidate the
assets, liabilities and results of operations of Flatiron Re Ltd. per FIN 46R.

Flatiron Re Ltd. is required to contribute funds into a trust for the benefit of Arch Re Bermuda (the �Trust�). Under the Treaty, the amount
required to be on deposit in the Trust, together with certain other amounts, is a calculated amount estimated to cover ceded losses arising from in
excess of two 1-in-250 year events for the applicable forward twelve-month period (the �Requisite Funded Amount�). During the underwriting
years covered by the Treaty, the Requisite Funded Amount will be subject to a minimum dollar level that will increase to $900.0 million by
July 1, 2006. If the actual amounts on deposit in the Trust, together with certain other amounts (the �Funded Amount�), do not at least equal the
Requisite Funded Amount, Arch Re Bermuda will, among other things, reduce the percentage of business ceded on a prospective basis and, at
Arch Re Bermuda�s option under certain circumstances, recapture unearned premium reserves and reassume losses that would have been ceded in
respect of such unearned premiums. No assurances can be given that actual losses will not exceed the Requisite Funded Amount or that Flatiron
Re Ltd. will make, or will have the ability to make, the required contributions into the Trust. Arch Re Bermuda will have the right to terminate
its obligations to cede business to Flatiron Re Ltd. if, among other things, the assets held in the Trust do not meet certain conditions, if ceded
unpaid loss reserves equal or exceed the Funded Amount or if the direct or indirect ownership of Flatiron Re Ltd. changes in certain respects.

Arch Re Bermuda pays to Flatiron Re Ltd. a reinsurance premium in the amount of the ceded percentage of the original gross written premium
on the business reinsured with Flatiron Re Ltd. less a ceding commission, which includes a reimbursement of direct acquisition expenses as well
as a commission to Arch Re Bermuda for generating the business. The Treaty also provides for a profit commission to Arch Re Bermuda based
on the underwriting results for the 2006 and 2007 underwriting years on a cumulative basis. Arch Re Bermuda records such profit commission
based on underwriting experience recorded each quarter. As a result, the profit commission arrangement with Flatiron Re Ltd. may increase the
volatility of our reported results of operations on both a quarterly and annual basis. During the 2006 first quarter, Arch Re Bermuda ceded $82.4
million of premiums written through the Treaty to Flatiron Re Ltd. The cession, however, did not have a significant impact on earnings during
the 2006 first quarter as the earned portion of premiums ceded to Flatiron Re Ltd. was only $18.3 million.
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Guarantee and Other

In the 2005 first quarter, the Company agreed to provide a guarantee, through the issuance of a standby letter of credit in the amount of $6.0
million (the �Guarantee�) for the benefit of a commercial bank, to assist the principals of an agency to obtain a loan to purchase the agency from
its prior owner. The agency loan is payable over a seven year term, and the Guarantee will be outstanding until such time as the loan is repaid in
full. The bank has received payments on the agency loan that reduced the Guarantee to $4.95 million at March 31, 2006. The fair value of the
Guarantee included as a liability in the Company�s balance sheet was $0.3 million at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

In addition, the Company agreed to extend a $10.0 million letter of credit through July 1, 2006 (�Extension�) for the benefit of a Lloyd�s of London
syndicate (�Syndicate�) which was originally issued in connection with a reinsurance treaty covering the 2002 year of account. The Company
received $0.5 million of fees in December 2004 and $0.2 million in December 2005 in compensation for the Extension. To the extent that Lloyd�s
of London draws down on the letter of credit on behalf of the Syndicate for any reason not related to the Company�s obligations under the 2002
year of account, the Syndicate will reimburse the Company for the amount drawn down plus interest at 6.0% per annum.

14. Legal Proceedings

The Company, in common with the insurance industry in general, is subject to litigation and arbitration in the normal course of its business. As
of March 31, 2006, the Company was not a party to any material litigation or arbitration other than as a part of the ordinary course of business,
none of which is expected by management to have a significant adverse effect on the Company�s results of operations and financial condition and
liquidity.

In 2003, the former owners of American Independent Insurance Holding Company (�American Independent�) commenced an action against
ACGL, American Independent and certain of American Independent�s directors and officers and others seeking unspecified damages relating to
the reorganization agreement pursuant to which the Company acquired American Independent in 2001. The reorganization agreement provided
that, as part of the consideration for the stock of American Independent, the former owners would have the right to receive a limited, contingent
payment from the proceeds, if any, from certain pre-existing lawsuits that American Independent had brought as plaintiff prior to its acquisition
by the Company. The former owners alleged, among other things, that the defendants entered into the agreement without intending to honor their
commitments under the agreement and are liable for securities and common law fraud and breach of contract. In December 2004, the Company
sold American Independent, PSIC and affiliated entities, which conducted its nonstandard automobile insurance operations, to a third party.
Under the terms of the sale agreement, ACGL and certain of its affiliates retained the liabilities (if any) relating to the foregoing matters. ACGL
and the other defendants filed a motion to dismiss all claims. That motion was granted on March 23, 2005, and the plaintiffs were allowed until
April 15, 2005 to amend their complaint. Although they did attempt to amend the complaint, they did not timely and properly do so, and, on
April 26, 2005, judgment was entered dismissing the action with prejudice. The plaintiffs thereafter moved to vacate the judgment and to allow
retroactively the filing of their second amended complaint; that motion was granted. The plaintiffs were allowed until October 28, 2005 to file
their new pleading and they did so on such date. ACGL and the other defendants again moved to dismiss the complaint, and that motion is now
pending before the court. Although no assurances can be made as to the resolution of the motion or of the plaintiffs� claims, management does
not believe that any of the claims are meritorious.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements which involve inherent risks and uncertainties. All statements other
than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. These statements are based on our current assessment of risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in these statements. Important factors that could cause actual
events or results to differ materially from those indicated in such statements are discussed in this report, including the section entitled �Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements,� and in our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�).For
additional information regarding our business and operations, please also refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005, including our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and the sections entitled �Risk Factors� and
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation�Certain Matters Which May Materially Affect Our
Results of Operations and/or Financial Condition.�

General

Overview

Arch Capital Group Ltd. (�ACGL� and, together with its subsidiaries, �we� or �us�) is a Bermuda public limited liability company with approximately
$3.05 billion in capital at March 31, 2006 and, through operations in Bermuda, the United States, Europe and Canada, writes insurance and
reinsurance on a worldwide basis. While we are positioned to provide a full range of property and casualty insurance and reinsurance lines, we
focus on writing specialty lines of insurance and reinsurance.

The worldwide insurance and reinsurance industry is highly competitive and has traditionally been subject to an underwriting cycle in which a
hard market (high premium rates, restrictive underwriting standards, as well as terms and conditions, and underwriting gains) is eventually
followed by a soft market (low premium rates, relaxed underwriting standards, as well as broader terms and conditions, and underwriting losses).
Insurance market conditions may affect, among other things, the demand for our products, our ability to increase premium rates, the terms and
conditions of the insurance policies we write, changes in the products offered by us or changes in our business strategy.

The financial results of the insurance and reinsurance industry are influenced by factors such as the frequency and/or severity of claims and
losses, including natural disasters or other catastrophic events, variations in interest rates and financial markets, changes in the legal, regulatory
and judicial environments, inflationary pressures and general economic conditions. These factors influence, among other things, the demand for
insurance or reinsurance, the supply of which is generally related to the total capital of competitors in the market.

In general, market conditions improved during 2002 and 2003 in the insurance and reinsurance marketplace. This reflected improvement in
pricing, terms and conditions following significant industry losses arising from the events of September 11th, as well as the recognition that
intense competition in the late 1990s led to inadequate pricing and overly broad terms, conditions and coverages. Such industry developments
resulted in poor financial results and erosion of the industry�s capital base. Consequently, many established insurers and reinsurers reduced their
participation in, or exited from, certain markets and, as a result, premium rates escalated in many lines of business. These developments
provided relatively new insurers and reinsurers, like us, with an opportunity to provide needed underwriting capacity. Beginning in late 2003 and
continuing through 2006, additional capacity emerged in many classes of business and, consequently, premium rate increases have decelerated
significantly and, in many classes of business, premium rates have decreased. However, we believe that we are still able to write insurance and
reinsurance business at what we believe to be attractive rates.
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In addition, the weather-related catastrophic events that occurred in the second half of 2005 have resulted in substantial improvements in market
conditions in property and certain marine lines of business. We are seeking to increase our writings in the property and marine lines of business
and, as a result, these lines, which are more volatile, may represent a larger proportion of our overall book of business in future periods, which
may increase the volatility in our results of operations. In order to take advantage of these current opportunities, we sold $200 million of
non-cumulative preferred shares in early 2006 to enable us to write additional business and signed a quota-share reinsurance treaty with Flatiron
Re Ltd., a dedicated reinsurance vehicle, which will allow us to increase our participation in property and marine lines without significantly
increasing our probable maximum loss. In response to current market conditions, our gross and net writings in the property and marine lines of
business in the 2006 first quarter represented a larger proportion of our overall book of business than in the 2005 first quarter.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Critical accounting policies, estimates and recent accounting pronouncements are discussed in Management�s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. That
information is hereby supplemented as follows:

Share-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value method of accounting for share-based awards using the modified prospective method of transition
as described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment� (�SFAS No. 123(R)�).
Under SFAS No.123(R), the estimated grant date fair value adjusted for assumed forfeitures of share-based compensation related to stock option
awards is recognized as compensation expense over the requisite service period of the grant. Under the fair value method of accounting pursuant
to SFAS No. 123(R), the fair value of restricted share and unit awards is measured by the grant date price of our shares. No value is attributed to
awards that employees forfeit because they fail to satisfy vesting conditions. As such, the number of shares granted is reduced by assumed
forfeitures and adjusted based on actual forfeitures until vesting. Such expense is amortized over the requisite service period of the related
awards. The share-based compensation expense associated with awards that have graded vesting features and vest based on service conditions
only (i) granted after the effective date of adoption is calculated on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the related awards
and (ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption and that remain unvested as of the date of adoption is calculated on a graded-vesting basis
as prescribed under FASB Interpretation No. 28, �Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans�an
interpretation of APB Opinions No. 15 and 25,� over the remaining requisite service periods of the related awards.

Under the modified prospective method of transition, compensation expense is recognized beginning with the effective date of adoption for all
share-based payments (i) granted after the effective date of adoption and (ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption and that remain
unvested on the date of adoption. Under the modified prospective method of transition, we are not required to restate our prior period financial
statements to reflect expensing of share-based compensation under SFAS No.123(R). Therefore, results for the 2006 first quarter are not
comparable to the 2005 first quarter.

Under SFAS No. 123(R), we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the share-based option awards as of the
grant date. The Black-Scholes model, by its design, is highly complex, and requires judgment in determining key data inputs including
estimating the risk free interest rate, expected life of the option and expected volatility rate. In addition, judgment is also required in estimating
the amount of share-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. The primary data inputs with the greatest degree of judgment are the
estimated lives of the share-based awards and the estimated volatility of our stock price. The Black-Scholes model is highly sensitive to changes
in these two data inputs. In our process for estimating the fair value of stock
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options granted, we believe that we have made a good faith fair value estimate in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123( R) as well as
guidance from the SEC as contained in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 in a way that is designed to take into account the assumptions that
underlie the instrument�s value that marketplace participants would reasonably make. If actual results differ significantly from these estimates,
share-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.

See �Results of Operations�Share-Based Compensation� below and Note 2, �Share-Based Compensation,� of the notes accompanying our
consolidated financial statements for more information about the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

Investment-Related Derivatives

Under SFAS No. 133, �Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities� (�SFAS No. 133�), as amended on January 1, 2001, all
derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivative instruments, are required to be recognized as either assets or liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets and measured at fair value. The accounting for gains and losses associated with changes in the fair value of a
derivative and the effect on the consolidated financial statements depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging
relationship and whether the hedge is highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of the asset or liability hedged.

Our investment strategy allows for the use of derivative instruments. We utilize various derivative instruments such as futures contracts as
part of the management of our stock index fund investments and to replicate equity investment positions. Derivative instruments may be used to
enhance investment performance, to replicate investment positions or to manage market exposures and duration risk that would be allowed under
our investment guidelines if implemented in other ways. Pursuant to SFAS No. 133, these instruments, which have no hedging designation, are
recognized as assets and liabilities in our balance sheets at fair market value and changes in fair value are included in net realized gains and
losses in our statements of operations.

Results of Operations�Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 and 2005

The following table sets forth net income available to common shareholders and earnings per common share data:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005

Net income available to common shareholders $ 129,623 $ 115,892
Diluted net income per common share $ 1.71 $ 1.57
Diluted weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding 75,855,309 74,013,546

Net income available to common shareholders was $129.6 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $115.9 million for the 2005 first
quarter. The increase in net income was primarily due to growth in investment income and an increase in underwriting income from our
insurance and reinsurance operations, as discussed in ��Segment Information� below. Our net income available to common shareholders for the
2006 first quarter represented a 20.6% annualized return on average common equity, compared to 20.5% for the 2005 first quarter. For purposes
of computing return on average common equity, average common equity has been calculated as the average of common shareholders� equity
outstanding at the beginning and ending of each period. Basic earnings per share data has not been presented or discussed herein as such
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an equal number of common shares. As such, the comparison of basic earnings per share for the 2006 first quarter and 2005 first quarter is not
meaningful.

Diluted weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding, used in the calculation of after-tax operating income and
net income per common share, was 1.8 million shares, or 2.5%, higher in the 2006 first quarter than in the 2005 first quarter. The higher level
was primarily due to increases in the dilutive effects of stock options and nonvested restricted stock calculated using the treasury stock method
and the exercise of stock options. Under the treasury stock method, the dilutive impact of options and nonvested stock on diluted weighted
average shares outstanding increases as the market price of our common shares increases.

Segment Information

We classify our businesses into two underwriting segments � insurance and reinsurance � and a corporate and other segment (non-underwriting).
SFAS No. 131, �Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,� requires certain disclosures about operating segments in
a manner that is consistent with how management evaluates the performance of the segment. For a description of our underwriting segments,
refer to note 4, �Segment Information,� of the notes accompanying our consolidated financial statements. Management measures segment
performance based on underwriting income or loss.

Insurance Segment

The following table sets forth our insurance segment�s underwriting results:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Gross premiums written $ 615,484 $ 506,744
Net premiums written 397,254 322,108

Net premiums earned $ 380,254 $ 321,036
Policy-related fee income 937 917
Other underwriting-related fee income 467 572
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (248,002) (206,862)
Acquisition expenses, net (37,885) (26,681)
Other operating expenses (62,076) (57,287)
Underwriting income $ 33,695 $ 31,695

Underwriting Ratios
Loss ratio 65.2% 64.4%
Acquisition expense ratio (1) 9.7% 8.0%
Other operating expense ratio 16.3% 17.8%
Combined ratio 91.2% 90.2%

(1)  The acquisition expense ratio is adjusted to include policy-related fee income.
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Underwriting Income. The insurance segment�s underwriting income was $33.7 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $31.7 million for
the 2005 first quarter. The combined ratio for the insurance segment was 91.2% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 90.2% for the 2005 first
quarter. The components of the insurance segment�s underwriting income are discussed below.

Premiums Written. Gross premiums written by the insurance segment were $615.5 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $506.7 million
for the 2005 first quarter, and ceded premiums written were 35.5% of gross premiums written for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 36.4% for
the 2005 first quarter. Net premiums
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written by the insurance segment were $397.3 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $322.1 million for the 2005 first quarter. Roughly
half of the growth in net premiums written was generated by the insurance segment�s U.S. operations through increases in the executive
assurance, construction and surety, property and program lines, partially offset by a reduction in U.S. primary casualty business. The other half
of the growth was generated by the insurance segment�s European and Canadian operations through increases in the professional liability,
property and executive assurance lines. Of the $21.6 million increase in executive assurance net premiums written, approximately 40% resulted
from adjustments to ceded reinsurance related to prior periods with the balance due, in part, to additional premiums associated with Side A
coverage (of which the insurance segment retains a higher percentage than other executive assurance business) and additional premiums from
geographic expansion, coverage for non-public entities and runoff policies. Growth in net premiums written in the insurance segment�s program
business of $7.3 million resulted, in part, from the timing in the reporting of premiums on one program in the 2005 first quarter which resulted in
lower reported gross premiums written, a full quarter contribution from a program which commenced during the 2005 first quarter and rate
increases on certain programs. For information regarding net premiums written produced by major line of business and geographic location,
refer to note 4, �Segment Information,� of the notes accompanying our consolidated financial statements.

Net Premiums Earned. Net premiums earned for the insurance segment were $380.3 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $321.0
million for the 2005 first quarter, and generally reflect changes in net premiums written over the previous five quarters, including the mix and
type of business written.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses. The loss ratio for the insurance segment was 65.2% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 64.4% for the
2005 first quarter. The loss ratio for the 2006 first quarter reflected estimated net adverse development in prior year loss reserves of $7.9 million,
compared to net favorable development of $0.6 million in the 2005 first quarter. The net impact of the change in prior year development was a
2.2 point increase in the 2006 first quarter loss ratio. The net adverse development in the 2006 first quarter reflected an increase in losses
incurred of $18.5 million related to Hurricane Wilma and $3.3 million related to the 2005 third quarter hurricanes, partially offset by favorable
development in healthcare, construction and surety and program business.

In addition to the use of individual per risk and inuring reinsurance contracts to limit exposure, the insurance segment had in force during 2005 a
reinsurance program which provides coverage for certain property catastrophe-related losses equal to a maximum of 95% of the first $200
million in excess of a $50 million retention per occurrence of such losses. Estimated losses related to Hurricane Katrina exceeded the per
occurrence retention and the insurance segment began to utilize the coverage in 2005. As such, a portion of the coverage was automatically
reinstated once and is available under the same terms as described immediately above should another 2005 event ultimately exceed the per
occurrence retention. Based on current estimates, the insurance segment expects to recover approximately $110.4 million, net of reinstatement
premiums, through such coverage, with approximately $69.5 million in remaining available coverage should the actual amount of losses
ultimately attributable to Hurricane Katrina exceed its estimate.

Estimates for the insurance segment related to Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma and other catastrophic events that occurred in the second half
of 2005 are based on currently available information derived from modeling techniques, industry assessments of exposure, preliminary claims
information obtained from its clients and brokers to date and a review of its in-force contracts. Actual losses from these events, as well as any
additional catastrophic events which may occur, may vary materially from the insurance segment�s estimates due to the inherent uncertainties in
making such determinations resulting from several factors, including the preliminary nature of the available information, the potential
inaccuracies and inadequacies in the data provided by clients and brokers, the modeling techniques and the application of such techniques, the
contingent nature of business interruption exposures, the effects of any resultant demand surge on claims activity and attendant coverage issues.
In addition, actual losses may increase if reinsurers fail to meet their obligations to the
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insurance segment or the reinsurance protections purchased by the insurance segment are exhausted or are otherwise unavailable.

Beginning in the 2006 first quarter, our insurance operations have in effect a reinsurance program which provides coverage for certain property
catastrophe-related losses during 2006 equal to a maximum of 92% of the first $325 million in excess of a $75 million retention per occurrence
of such losses. The cost of the coverage was substantially higher than in 2005.

Underwriting Expenses. The underwriting expense ratio for the insurance segment was 26.0% in the 2006 first quarter, compared to 25.8% in
the 2005 first quarter. The acquisition expense ratio was 9.7% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 8.0% for the 2005 first quarter. The
acquisition expense ratio is influenced by, among other things, (1) the amount of business ceded and the resulting ceding commissions received
from unaffiliated reinsurers and (2) the amount of business written on a surplus lines (non-admitted) basis. The increase in the acquisition
expense ratio was due, in part, to changes in the mix of business. The insurance segment�s other operating expense ratio was 16.3% for the 2006
first quarter, compared to 17.8% for the 2005 first quarter. The lower ratio in the 2006 first quarter resulted from growth in net premiums earned
which was higher than the attendant growth in operating expenses.

Reinsurance Segment

The following table sets forth our reinsurance segment�s underwriting results:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Gross premiums written $ 564,668 $ 488,795
Net premiums written 476,465 477,693

Net premiums earned $ 381,347 $ 376,032
Other underwriting-related fee income 401 4,623
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (220,176) (218,674)
Acquisition expenses, net (91,787) (99,452)
Other operating expenses (13,252) (10,916)
Underwriting income $ 56,533 $ 51,613

Underwriting Ratios
Loss ratio 57.7% 58.2%
Acquisition expense ratio 24.1% 26.4%
Other operating expense ratio 3.5% 2.9%
Combined ratio 85.3% 87.5%

Underwriting Income. The reinsurance segment�s underwriting income was $56.5 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $51.6 million
for the 2005 first quarter. The combined ratio for the reinsurance segment was 85.3% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 87.5% for the 2005
first quarter. The components of the reinsurance segment�s underwriting income are discussed below.
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Premiums Written. Gross premiums written by the reinsurance segment were $564.7 million in the 2006 first quarter, compared to $488.8
million for the 2005 first quarter. Ceded premiums written by the reinsurance segment were 15.6% of gross premiums written for the 2006 first
quarter, compared to 2.3% for the 2005 first quarter. The higher ceded percentage in the 2006 first quarter resulted from the cession of $82.4
million of business to Flatiron Re Ltd. under a 45% quota-share reinsurance treaty of certain lines of property and marine business underwritten
by Arch Reinsurance Ltd. (�Arch Re Bermuda�) for unaffiliated third parties. The quota-share reinsurance treaty with Flatiron Re Ltd. allows the
reinsurance segment to increase its participation in
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property and marine lines without significantly increasing its probable maximum loss. The quota-share reinsurance treaty also provides for a
profit commission to Arch Re Bermuda based on the underwriting results for the 2006 and 2007 underwriting years on a cumulative basis. Arch
Re Bermuda will record such profit commission based on underwriting experience recorded each quarter. As a result, the profit commission
arrangement with Flatiron Re Ltd. may increase the volatility of the reinsurance segment�s reported results of operations on both a quarterly and
annual basis.

Net premiums written by the reinsurance segment were $476.5 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $477.7 million for the 2005 first
quarter. Growth in international property and marine lines was offset by a reduction in casualty and other business. The growth in property and
marine lines was in response to current market opportunities as prices for catastrophe-exposed property and marine lines have increased
significantly in the wake of the 2005 storms. The decrease in casualty business was primarily in response to increased competition for European
business. For information regarding net premiums written produced by major line and type of business and geographic location, refer to note 4,
�Segment Information,� of the notes accompanying our consolidated financial statements.

Net Premiums Earned. Net premiums earned for our reinsurance segment were $381.3 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $376.0
million for the 2005 first quarter, and generally reflect changes in net premiums written over the previous five quarters, including the mix and
type of business written.

Other Underwriting-Related Fee Income. The reinsurance segment recorded $0.4 million of other underwriting-related fee income for the 2006
first quarter, compared to $4.6 million for the 2005 first quarter. Of the 2005 amount, $4.5 million related to an industry loss warranty contract.
Under this contract, we received payment when industry-wide losses from certain natural perils exceeded a specified amount.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses. Underwriting income for the reinsurance segment in the 2006 first quarter benefited from estimated net
favorable development in prior year loss reserves, net of related adjustments, of $1.5 million. Such amount consisted of $20.8 million of
favorable development, primarily in other specialty and other short-tail lines, partially offset by $13.1 million related to Hurricane Wilma and
$6.2 million related to the 2005 third quarter hurricanes and the European floods. For the 2005 first quarter, underwriting income benefited from
estimated net favorable development in prior year loss reserves, net of related adjustments, of $21.7 million.

The loss ratio for the reinsurance segment was 57.7% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 58.2% for the 2005 first quarter. The reinsurance
segment�s losses incurred for the 2006 first quarter included approximately $8.2 million related to U.S. storm activity and $8.1 million related to
Cyclone Larry, which impacted Australia in March 2006, compared to losses of $10.0 million for Windstorm Erwin in the 2005 first quarter.
The higher level of catastrophic activity in the 2006 first quarter resulted in a 1.6 point increase in the 2006 first quarter loss ratio. As noted
above, the 2006 first quarter benefited from estimated net favorable development in prior year loss reserves, net of related adjustments, of $1.5
million. Such amount consisted of an increase to losses incurred of $2.4 million, offset by $3.9 million of reductions in acquisition expenses.
Estimated net favorable development in the 2005 first quarter of $21.7 million consisted of a decrease in losses incurred of $24.7 million, offset
by an increase to acquisition expenses of $3.0 million. The net impact of the change in estimated net prior year development was a 7.1 point
increase in the 2006 first quarter loss ratio. The 2006 first quarter loss ratio also reflected a lower level of claims recorded in property excluding
property catastrophe and other short-tail lines of business than in the 2005 first quarter, and changes in the reinsurance segment�s mix of business.

The reinsurance segment previously purchased a reinsurance program which provides up to $55 million of coverage in excess of certain
deductibles for any one occurrence and $110 million in the aggregate annually, for certain catastrophe-related losses worldwide for 2005 through
April 2006. Based on current estimates, the reinsurance segment expects to recover approximately $90.8 million, net of reinstatement premiums,
related to
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the 2005 catastrophic events. Substantially all of the available coverage has been used. The reinsurance segment�s estimates related to Hurricanes
Katrina, Rita and Wilma and other catastrophic events that occurred in the second half of 2005 are based on currently available information
derived from modeling techniques, industry assessments of exposure, preliminary claims information obtained from its clients and brokers to
date and a review of its in-force contracts. Actual losses from these events, as well as any additional catastrophic events which may occur,
may vary materially from the reinsurance segment�s estimates due to the inherent uncertainties in making such determinations resulting from
several factors, including the preliminary nature of the available information, the potential inaccuracies and inadequacies in the data provided by
clients and brokers, the modeling techniques and the application of such techniques, the contingent nature of business interruption exposures, the
effects of any resultant demand surge on claims activity and attendant coverage issues. In addition, actual losses may increase if reinsurers fail to
meet their obligations to the reinsurance segment or the reinsurance protections purchased by the reinsurance segment are otherwise unavailable.

Underwriting Expenses. The underwriting expense ratio for the reinsurance segment was 27.6% in the 2006 first quarter, compared to 29.3% in
the 2005 first quarter. The acquisition expense ratio for the 2006 first quarter was 24.1%, compared to 26.4% for the 2005 first quarter. The net
impact of the change in acquisition expenses related to the estimated net prior year development noted above was a 1.8 point decrease in the
2006 first quarter acquisition expense ratio. The reinsurance segment�s other operating expense ratio was 3.5% for the 2006 first quarter,
compared to 2.9% for the 2005 first quarter. The higher ratio in the 2006 first quarter was driven by an increase in accrued expenses for
incentive compensation related to prior periods.

Net Investment Income

Net investment income was $80.3 million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $49.9 million for the 2005 first quarter. The higher level of net
investment income in the 2006 first quarter resulted from a higher level of average invested assets in the 2006 period and an increase in the
pre-tax investment income yield to 4.3% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 3.4% for the 2005 first quarter. These yields were calculated
based on amortized cost. Yields on future investment income may vary based on financial market conditions, investment allocation decisions
and other factors.

Net Realized Gains or Losses

Following is a summary of net realized gains (losses):

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Fixed maturities $ (4,153) $ (280)
Other investments 2,728 (146)
Other (1,958) 887
Total $ (3,383) $ 461

Currently, our portfolio is actively managed to maximize total return within certain guidelines. In assessing returns under this approach, we
include net investment income, net realized gains and losses and the change in unrealized gains and losses generated by our investment portfolio.
The effect of financial market movements on the investment portfolio will directly impact net realized gains and losses as the portfolio is
adjusted and rebalanced. Total return on our portfolio under management, as reported to us by our investment advisors, for the 2006 first quarter
was 0.04%, compared to (0.56%) for the 2005 first quarter.
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For the 2006 first quarter, net realized losses on our fixed maturities of $4.2 million included a provision of $5.3 million for declines in the
market value of investments held in our available for sale portfolio which were considered to be other-than-temporary, based on a review
performed during the 2006 first quarter. The declines
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in market value on such securities were primarily due to the current interest rate environment. For the 2005 first quarter, we did not consider any
declines in the market value of investments to be other-than-temporary. The balance of $1.1 million in net realized gains on our fixed maturities
in the 2006 first quarter resulted from the sale of securities, compared to net realized losses from the sale of fixed maturities of $0.3 million in
the 2005 first quarter. In the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, net realized gains or losses from the sale of fixed maturities resulted from our
decisions to reduce credit exposure, changes in duration targets and sales related to rebalancing the portfolio.

Our investment portfolio is classified as �available for sale.� During the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, we realized gross losses from the sale of
fixed maturities of $16.8 million and $4.8 million, respectively. With respect to those securities that were sold at a loss, the following is an
analysis of the gross realized losses based on the period of time those securities had been in an unrealized loss position:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Less than 6 months $ 14,809 $ 3,120
At least 6 months but less than 12 months 708 939
Over 12 months 1,321 700
Total $ 16,838 $ 4,759

Other Expenses

Other expenses, which are included in our other operating expenses and part of our corporate and other segment (non-underwriting), were $7.6
million for the 2006 first quarter, compared to $6.0 million for the 2005 first quarter. Such amounts primarily represent certain holding company
costs necessary to support our worldwide insurance and reinsurance operations and costs associated with operating as a publicly traded
company.

Share-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements in accordance with
SFAS No.123(R), using the modified prospective method of transition. Share-based compensation arrangements covered by SFAS No.123(R)
currently include stock options, and restricted shares and units granted under our Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plans. Prior to
January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value method of accounting in accordance with
APB 25. Under the provisions of APB 25, no compensation expense was recognized when stock options were granted with exercise prices equal
to or greater than market value on the date of grant. However, we did recognize compensation expense related to restricted shares and units
awarded based on the fair market value of our common shares at the measurement date. Under the modified prospective method of transition, we
are not required to restate our prior period financial statements to reflect expensing of share-based compensation related to stock options under
SFAS No.123(R). Therefore, results for the 2006 first quarter are not comparable to the 2005 first quarter.

As required by the provisions of SFAS 123(R), we recorded pre-tax share-based compensation expense related to stock options of $1.3 million
in the 2006 first quarter. Under the modified prospective method of transition, no expense related to stock options was recorded in the 2005 first
quarter. For the remaining nine months of 2006, the Company expects to record pre-tax share-based compensation expense related to stock
options of approximately $5.5 million. These charges have no impact on our cash flows or shareholders� equity. We used the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to determine the estimated fair value of our share-based compensation arrangements related to stock options.
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As of March 31, 2006, there was approximately $32.6 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based
compensation arrangements (consisting of restricted shares and units and stock options) granted under our Long Term Incentive and Share
Award Plans. See Note 2, �Share-Based Compensation,� of the notes accompanying our consolidated financial statements and �Critical Accounting
Policies, Estimates and Recent Accounting Policies�Share-Based Compensation� for more information about the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

Net Foreign Exchange Gains or Losses

Net foreign exchange losses for the 2006 first quarter of $10.3 million consisted of net unrealized losses of $7.9 million and net realized losses
of $2.4 million, compared to net foreign exchange gains for the 2005 first quarter of $3.2 million, which consisted of net unrealized gains of $2.7
million and net realized gains of $0.5 million. Net unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses result from the effects of revaluing our net
insurance liabilities required to be settled in foreign currencies at each balance sheet date. We hold investments in foreign currencies which are
intended to mitigate our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in our net insurance liabilities. However, changes in the value of such
investments due to foreign currency rate movements are reflected as a direct increase or decrease to shareholders� equity, as part of the �Change in
unrealized appreciation (decline) in value of investments, net of deferred income tax� in accumulated other comprehensive income, and not in the
statement of income. For the 2006 and 2005 first quarters, the net unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses recorded were largely offset by
changes in the value of our investments held in foreign currencies.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate on income before income taxes was 7.9% for the 2006 first quarter, compared to 7.5% for the 2005 first quarter. The
higher effective tax rate in the 2006 first quarter resulted from a change in the relative mix of income reported by jurisdiction. Our effective tax
rates may fluctuate from period to period based on the relative mix of income reported by jurisdiction primarily due to the varying tax rates in
each jurisdiction. Our quarterly tax provision is adjusted to reflect changes in our expected annual effective tax rates, if any.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

ACGL is a holding company whose assets primarily consist of the shares in its subsidiaries. Generally, ACGL depends on its available cash
resources, liquid investments and dividends or other distributions from its subsidiaries to make payments, including the payment of debt service
obligations and operating expenses it may incur and any dividends or liquidation amounts with respect to the series A non-cumulative preferred
shares and common shares.

On a consolidated basis, our aggregate cash and invested assets totaled $7.68 billion at March 31, 2006, compared to $7.12 billion at
December 31, 2005. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, our fixed income portfolio, which includes fixed maturity securities and
short-term investments, had an average Standard & Poor�s quality rating of �AA+� and an average effective duration of 3.0 years and 3.3 years,
respectively. ACGL�s readily available cash, short-term investments and marketable securities, excluding amounts held by our regulated
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, totaled $23.7 million at March 31, 2006, compared to $21.0 million at December 31, 2005.

The ability of our regulated insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions or other payments to us is dependent
on their ability to meet applicable regulatory standards. Under Bermuda law, Arch Re Bermuda is required to maintain a minimum solvency
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margin (i.e., the amount by which the value of its general business assets must exceed its general business liabilities) equal to the greatest of
(1) $100
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million, (2) 50% of net premiums written (being gross premiums written by us less any premiums ceded by us, but we may not deduct more than
25% of gross premiums when computing net premiums written) and (3) 15% of loss and other insurance reserves. Arch Re Bermuda is
prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends during any financial year if it is not in compliance with its minimum solvency margin. In
addition, Arch Re Bermuda is prohibited from declaring or paying in any financial year dividends of more than 25% of its total statutory capital
and surplus (as shown on its previous financial year�s statutory balance sheet) unless it files, at least seven days before payment of such
dividends, with the Bermuda Monetary Authority an affidavit stating that it will continue to meet the required margins. In addition, Arch Re
Bermuda is prohibited, without prior approval of the Bermuda Monetary Authority, from reducing by 15% or more its total statutory capital, as
set out in its previous year�s statutory financial statements. At December 31, 2005, as determined under Bermuda law, Arch Re Bermuda had
statutory capital of $1.66 billion and statutory capital and surplus of $2.19 billion. Such amounts include ownership interests in U.S. insurance
and reinsurance subsidiaries. Accordingly, Arch Re Bermuda can pay approximately $249 million in dividends or distributions to ACGL during
2006 without prior approval under Bermuda law, as discussed above. Our U.S. insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries can pay $80.3 million in
dividends or distributions to Arch Capital Group (U.S.) Inc. (�Arch-U.S.�), our U.S. holding company, which is owned by Arch Re Bermuda,
during 2006 without prior regulatory approval. Such dividends or distributions may be subject to applicable withholding or other taxes. Arch
Insurance Company (Europe) Limited can pay approximately £3.8 million, or $6.5 million, in dividends to ACGL during 2006 without prior
notice and approval by the FSA. In addition, the ability of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries to pay dividends is also constrained by our
dependence on the financial strength ratings of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries from independent rating agencies. The ratings from
these agencies depend to a large extent on the capitalization levels of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. We believe that ACGL has
sufficient cash resources and available dividend capacity to service its indebtedness and other current outstanding obligations.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are required to maintain assets on deposit, which primarily consist of fixed maturities, with various
regulatory authorities to support their operations. The assets on deposit are available to settle insurance and reinsurance liabilities to third parties.
Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries also have investments in segregated portfolios primarily to provide collateral or guarantees for letters
of credit to third parties. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, such amounts approximated $984.4 million and $1.0 billion, respectively.
In addition, Arch Re Bermuda maintains assets in trust accounts as collateral for insurance and reinsurance transactions with affiliated
companies. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, such amounts approximated $2.83 billion and $2.77 billion, respectively.

ACGL, through its subsidiaries, provides financial support to certain of its insurance subsidiaries and affiliates, through certain reinsurance
arrangements essential to the ratings of such subsidiaries. Except as described in the preceding sentence, or where express reinsurance, guarantee
or other financial support contractual arrangements are in place, each of ACGL�s subsidiaries or affiliates is solely responsible for its own
liabilities and commitments (and no other ACGL subsidiary or affiliate is so responsible). Any reinsurance arrangements, guarantees or other
financial support contractual arrangements that are in place are solely for the benefit of the ACGL subsidiary or affiliate involved and third
parties (creditors or insureds of such entity) are not express beneficiaries of such arrangements.

Arch Specialty Insurance Company (�Arch Specialty�) entered into a Stipulation and Order (�Stipulation�) with the Wisconsin Office of the
Commissioner of Insurance (�OCI�) in connection with ACGL�s acquisition of Arch Specialty in 2002. While the ratio of Arch Specialty�s total
adjusted capital to authorized control level risk-based capital exceeded 200% at December 31, 2005, and thus was above the risk-based capital
threshold that would require company action (the lowest level of corrective action), it was below the 275% ratio that the Stipulation requires
Arch Specialty to maintain. As of December 31, 2005, Arch Specialty was in compliance with the ratio required under the Stipulation following
its receipt during the 2006 first quarter of a capital contribution in the amount of $57.0 million provided by subsidiaries of ACGL, and remains
in compliance with such ratio at March 31, 2006. Western Diversified Casualty Insurance Company, which, like Arch Specialty, is domiciled in
Wisconsin, also entered into a Stipulation with
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the OCI in 2003 whereby it must maintain a ratio of total adjusted capital to authorized control level risk-based capital of not less than 275%,
and was in compliance with this ratio at March 31, 2006.

Our insurance and reinsurance operations provide liquidity in that premiums are received in advance, sometimes substantially in advance, of the
time losses are paid. The period of time from the occurrence of a claim through the settlement of the liability may extend many years into the
future. Sources of liquidity include cash flows from operations, financing arrangements or routine sales of investments.

We monitor the financial condition of our reinsurers and attempt to place coverages only with substantial, financially sound carriers. At
March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, approximately 94.0% and 92.6%, respectively, of our reinsurance recoverables on paid and unpaid
losses (not including prepaid reinsurance premiums) of $1.51 billion and $1.47 billion, respectively, were due from carriers which had an A.M.
Best rating of �A-� or better. At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the largest reinsurance recoverables from any one carrier were less than
5.6% of our total shareholders� equity.

As part of our investment strategy, we seek to establish a level of cash and highly liquid short-term and intermediate-term securities which,
combined with expected cash flow, is believed by us to be adequate to meet our foreseeable payment obligations. However, due to the nature of
our operations, cash flows are affected by claim payments that may comprise large payments on a limited number of claims and which can
fluctuate from year to year. We believe that our liquid investments and cash flow will provide us with sufficient liquidity in order to meet our
claim payment obligations. However, the timing and amounts of actual claim payments related to recorded loss reserves vary based on many
factors, including large individual losses, changes in the legal environment, as well as general market conditions. The ultimate amount of the
claim payments could differ materially from our estimated amounts. Certain lines of business written by us, such as excess casualty, have loss
experience characterized as low frequency and high severity. The foregoing may result in significant variability in loss payment patterns. The
impact of this variability can be exacerbated by the fact that the timing of the receipt of reinsurance recoverables owed to us may be slower than
anticipated by us. Therefore, the irregular timing of claim payments can create significant variations in cash flows from operations between
periods and may require us to utilize other sources of liquidity to make these payments, which may include the sale of investments or utilization
of existing or new credit facilities or capital market transactions. If the source of liquidity is the sale of investments, we may be forced to sell
such investments at a loss, which may be material.

Consolidated cash flow provided by operating activities for the 2006 first quarter was $423.2 million, compared to $327.8 million for the 2005
first quarter. The increase in operating cash flows in the 2006 period was due, in part, to growth in premiums written and net investment income,
partially offset by a higher level of paid losses as our insurance and reinsurance loss reserves have continued to mature and due to payments
related to the 2004 and 2005 catastrophic events. Cash flow from operating activities are provided by premiums collected, fee income,
investment income and collected reinsurance recoverables, offset by losses and loss adjustment expense payments, reinsurance premiums paid,
operating costs and current taxes paid.

We expect that our operational needs, including our anticipated insurance obligations and operating and capital expenditure needs, for the next
twelve months, at a minimum, will be met by our balance of cash, short-term investments and our credit facilities, as well as by funds generated
from underwriting activities and investment income and proceeds on the sale or maturity of our investments.

We monitor our capital adequacy on a regular basis and will seek to adjust our capital base (up or down) according to the needs of our business.
The future capital requirements of our business will depend on many factors, including our ability to write new business successfully and to
establish premium rates and reserves at levels sufficient to cover losses. Our ability to underwrite is largely dependent upon the quality of our
claims paying and financial strength ratings as evaluated by independent rating agencies. In particular, we require (1) sufficient capital to
maintain our financial strength ratings, as issued by several ratings agencies, at a level
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considered necessary by management to enable our key underwriting subsidiaries to compete; (2) sufficient capital to enable our underwriting
subsidiaries to meet the capital adequacy tests performed by statutory agencies in the U.S. and other key markets; and (3) letters of credit and
other forms of collateral that are necessary for our non-U.S. underwriting companies because they are �non-admitted� under U.S. state insurance
regulations.

As part of our capital management program, we may seek to raise additional capital or may seek to return capital to our shareholders through
share repurchases, cash dividends or other methods (or a combination of such methods). Any such determination will be at the discretion of our
board of directors and will be dependent upon our profits, financial requirements and other factors, including legal restrictions, rating agency
requirements and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.

To the extent that our existing capital is insufficient to fund our future operating requirements or maintain such ratings, we may need to raise
additional funds through financings or limit our growth. If we are not able to obtain adequate capital, our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected, which could include, among other things, the following possible outcomes: (1) potential
downgrades in the financial strength ratings assigned by ratings agencies to our operating subsidiaries, which could place those operating
subsidiaries at a competitive disadvantage compared to higher-rated competitors; (2) reductions in the amount of business that our operating
subsidiaries are able to write in order to meet capital adequacy-based tests enforced by statutory agencies; and (3) any resultant ratings
downgrades could, among other things, affect our ability to write business and increase the cost of bank credit and letters of credit.

In addition to common share capital, we depend on external sources of finance to support our underwriting activities, which can be in the
form (or any combination) of debt securities, preference shares, common equity and bank credit facilities providing loans and/or letters of credit.
Any equity or debt financing, if available at all, may be on terms that are unfavorable to us. In the case of equity financings, dilution to our
shareholders could result, and, in any case, such securities may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of our outstanding
securities.

In July 2004, ACGL and Arch-U.S. filed a universal shelf registration statement with the SEC. This registration statement allows for the possible
future offer and sale by us of up to $450 million of various types of securities, including unsecured debt securities, preference shares, common
shares, warrants, share purchase contracts and units and depositary shares. The shelf registration statement enables us to efficiently access the
public debt and/or equity capital markets in order to meet our future capital needs. In addition, another shelf registration statement allows selling
shareholders to resell up to an aggregate of 9,892,594 common shares that they own in one or more offerings from time to time. We will not
receive any proceeds from any shares offered by the selling shareholders. This report is not an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy
nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or
qualification under the securities laws of any such state.

In November 2005, we entered into a five-year agreement for a $300 million unsecured revolving loan and letter of credit facility and a $500
million secured letter of credit facility, which was amended in April 2006 to provide Arch Insurance Company (Europe) Limited access to the
secured portion of the credit facility. The $300 million unsecured portion of the unsecured revolving loan and letter of credit facility is also
available for the issuance of unsecured letters of credit up to $100 million for our U.S.-based reinsurance operation.

On February 1, 2006, ACGL completed a public offering of $200.0 million principal amount of 8.0% series A non-cumulative preferred shares
(�Series A Preferred Shares�) with a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share and received net proceeds of $193.5 million. The net proceeds were
used to support the underwriting activities of ACGL�s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. ACGL has the right to redeem all or a portion of
the Series A Preferred Shares at a redemption price of $25.00 per share on or after February 1, 2011. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares
are non-cumulative. Consequently, in the event dividends are not declared on
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the Series A Preferred Shares for any dividend period, holders of Series A Preferred Shares will not be entitled to receive a dividend for such
period, and such undeclared dividend will not accrue and will not be payable. Holders of Series A Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive
dividend payments only when, as and if declared by ACGL�s board of directors or a duly authorized committee of the board of directors. Any
such dividends will be payable from the date of original issue on a non-cumulative basis, quarterly in arrears on the 15th day of February, May,
August and November of each year, commencing on May 15, 2006. To the extent declared, these dividends will accumulate, with respect to
each dividend period, in an amount per share equal to 8.0% of the liquidation preference per annum.

On February 23, 2006 and May 3, 2006, ACGL�s board of directors declared dividends with respect to the Series A Preferred Shares for the
dividend period from February 1, 2006 through May 14, 2006, in an aggregate amount of $4.6 million, to be payable out of lawfully available
funds for the payment of dividends under Bermuda law on May 15, 2006 to holders of record as of May 1, 2006. In addition, effective June 30,
2006 and August 14, 2006, respectively, ACGL�s board of directors declared additional partial dividends with respect to the outstanding Series A
Preferred Shares for the partial dividend periods from May 15, 2006 through June 30, 2006 and July 1, 2006 through August 14, 2006, in
aggregate amounts of $2.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively, in each case, to be payable out of lawfully available funds for the payment of
dividends under Bermuda law on August 15, 2006 to holders of record as of August 1, 2006, unless determined otherwise by the Board or the
Executive Committee of the Board on or prior to the applicable effective date.

At March 31, 2006, ACGL�s capital of $3.05 billion consisted of $300.0 million of senior notes, representing 9.8% of the total, $200.0 million of
Series A Preferred Shares, representing 6.6% of the total, and common shareholders� equity of $2.55 billion, representing the balance. At
December 31, 2005, ACGL�s capital of $2.78 billion consisted of senior notes of $300 million, representing 10.8% of the total, and common
shareholders� equity of $2.48 billion, representing the balance. The increase in capital during 2006 of $269.0 million was primarily attributable to
the issuance of Series A Preferred Shares and net income for the 2006 first quarter, partially offset by an after-tax decline in the market value of
our investment portfolio of $67.0 million which was primarily due to an increase in the level of interest rates at March 31, 2006.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not party to any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement to which an entity unconsolidated with us is a party that
management believes is reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors. We concluded that, under FASB Interpretation
No. 46R, �Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,� which was issued and became effective for us during the 2004 first quarter, we are required
to consolidate the assets, liabilities and results of operations (if any) of a certain managing general agency in which one of our subsidiaries has
an investment. Such agency ceased producing business in 1999 and is currently running-off its operations. Based on current information, there
are no assets or liabilities of such agency required to be reflected on the face of our consolidated financial statements that are not, or have not
been previously, otherwise reflected therein.

On December 29, 2005, Arch Re Bermuda, our Bermuda-based reinsurer, entered into a quota share reinsurance treaty with Flatiron Re Ltd., a
newly-formed Bermuda reinsurance company, pursuant to which Flatiron Re Ltd. is assuming a 45% quota share (the �Treaty�) of certain lines of
property and marine business underwritten by Arch Re Bermuda for unaffiliated third parties for the 2006 and 2007 underwriting years
(January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2007). The quota share is subject to decrease by Arch Re Bermuda under certain circumstances. In addition, in
certain circumstances, Flatiron Re Ltd. may extend at its option the coverage provided by the Treaty to Arch Re Bermuda�s 2008 underwriting
year. As a result of the terms of the Treaty, the Company has determined that Flatiron Re Ltd. is a variable interest entity. However, Arch Re
Bermuda is not the primary beneficiary of Flatiron Re Ltd. and, as such, we are not required to consolidate the assets, liabilities and results of
operations of Flatiron Re Ltd. per FIN 46R. See Note 13, �Commitments and Contingencies,� of
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the notes accompanying our consolidated financial statements for further details on the Treaty with Flatiron Re Ltd.

Investments

The finance and investment committee of our board of directors establishes our investment policies and creates guidelines for our investment
managers. The finance and investment committee reviews the implementation of the investment strategy on a regular basis. Our current
approach stresses preservation of capital, market liquidity and diversification of risk.

Our cash and invested assets were as follows at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

March 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value $ 5,414,156 $ 5,280,987
Fixed maturities pledged under securities lending agreements, at fair value (1) 794,583 862,766
Total fixed maturities 6,208,739 6,143,753
Short-term investments available for sale, at fair value 1,052,753 681,887
Short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements, at fair value (1) 63,700 1,100
Other investments, at fair value 102,351 70,233
Cash 247,906 222,477
Total cash and invested assets (1) $ 7,675,449 $ 7,119,450

(1) In securities lending transactions, we receive collateral in excess of the market value of the fixed maturities and short-term investments
pledged under securities lending agreements. For purposes of this table, we have excluded $883.0 million and $893.4 million, respectively, of
collateral received which is reflected as �short-term investment of funds received under securities lending agreements, at fair value� and included
$858.3 million and $863.9 million, respectively, of �fixed maturities and short-term investments pledged under securities lending agreements, at
fair value� at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

Our investment strategy allows for the use of derivative instruments. We utilize various derivative instruments such as futures contracts as
part of the management of our stock index fund investments and to replicate equity investment positions. Derivative instruments may be used to
enhance investment performance, to replicate investment positions or to manage market exposures and duration risk that would be allowed under
our investment guidelines if implemented in other ways. See Note 7, �Investment Information�Investment-Related Derivatives,� of the notes
accompanying our consolidated financial Statements and �Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Recent Accounting
Policies�Investment-Related Derivatives� foradditional disclosures concerning derivatives.

At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, our fixed income portfolio, which includes fixed maturity securities and short-term investments, had
an average effective duration of 3.0 years and 3.3 years, respectively, an average Standard & Poor�s quality rating of �AA+� and an average yield to
maturity (imbedded book yield), before investment expenses, of 4.6% and 4.2%, respectively.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
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We establish reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (�Loss Reserves�) which represent estimates involving actuarial and statistical
projections, at a given point in time, of our expectations of the ultimate settlement and administration costs of losses incurred. Estimating Loss
Reserves is inherently difficult, which is exacerbated by the fact that we are a relatively new company with relatively limited historical
experience upon which to base such estimates. We utilize actuarial models as well as available historical insurance industry loss ratio experience
and loss development patterns to assist in the establishment of Loss Reserves. Actual losses and
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loss adjustment expenses paid will deviate, perhaps substantially, from the reserve estimates reflected in our financial statements.

At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, our Loss Reserves, net of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses recoverable, by type and by
operating segment were as follows:

March 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Insurance:
Case reserves $ 479,678 $ 421,131
IBNR reserves 1,480,674 1,413,243
Total net reserves $ 1,960,352 $ 1,834,374

Reinsurance:
Case reserves $ 545,616 $ 488,593
Additional case reserves 106,321 116,788
IBNR reserves 1,707,238 1,623,303
Total net reserves $ 2,359,175 $ 2,228,684

Total:
Case reserves $ 1,025,294 $ 909,724
Additional case reserves 106,321 116,788
IBNR reserves 3,187,912 3,036,546
Total net reserves $ 4,319,527 $ 4,063,058

At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the insurance segment�s Loss Reserves by major line of business, net of unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses recoverable, were as follows:

March 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005

Casualty $ 447,368 $ 420,113
Programs 322,986 323,527
Construction and surety 296,017 267,569
Property, marine and aviation 282,775 259,686
Executive assurance 252,811 222,949
Professional liability 249,289 226,815
Healthcare 99,822 104,464
Other 9,284 9,251
Total net reserves $ 1,960,352 $ 1,834,374

At March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the reinsurance segment�s Loss Reserves by major line of business, net of unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses recoverable, were as follows:

March 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
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Casualty $ 1,384,021 $ 1,304,859
Property excluding property catastrophe 290,830 265,355
Other specialty 267,778 267,850
Marine and aviation 180,525 175,364
Property catastrophe 131,544 107,307
Other 104,477 107,949
Total net reserves $ 2,359,175 $ 2,228,684
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Calculation of Book Value Per Common Share

The following presents the calculation of book value per common share for March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. The shares and per share
numbers set forth below exclude the effects of 6,073,040 and 5,637,108 stock options and 95,870 and 93,545 restricted stock units outstanding at
March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

March 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005

Total shareholders� equity $ 2,749,554 $ 2,480,527
Less preferred shareholders� equity (200,000) �
Common shareholders� equity $ 2,549,554 $ 2,480,527

Common shares outstanding 73,827,467 73,334,870

Book value per common share $ 34.53 $ 33.82

Market Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management

In accordance with the SEC�s Financial Reporting Release No. 48, we performed a sensitivity analysis to determine the effects that market risk
exposures could have on the future earnings, fair values or cash flows of our financial instruments as of March 31, 2006. (See section captioned
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Market Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management�
included in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.) Market risk represents the risk of changes in the fair value of a financial instrument and is
comprised of several components, including liquidity, basis and price risks. At March 31, 2006, material changes in market risk exposures that
affect the quantitative and qualitative disclosures presented as of December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Interest Rate and General Portfolio Risk

Fixed Maturities and Short-Term Investments. We invest in interest rate sensitive securities, primarily debt securities. We consider the effect of
interest rate movements on the market value of our fixed maturities, fixed maturities pledged under securities lending agreements and short-term
investments and the corresponding change in unrealized appreciation. As interest rates rise, the market value of our interest rate sensitive
securities falls, and the converse is also true. The following table summarizes the effect that an immediate, parallel shift in the interest rate yield
curve would have had on the portfolio at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Based on historical observations, it is unlikely that all interest
rate yield curves would shift in the same direction at the same time.

Interest Rate Shift in Basis Points
(U.S. dollars in millions) -100 -50 0 50 100

March 31, 2006:
Total market value $ 7,552.9 $ 7,436.7 $ 7,325.2 $ 7,216.6 $ 7,112.5
Market value change from base 3.11% 1.52% � (1.48)% (2.90)%
Change in unrealized value $ 227.7 $ 111.5 � $ (108.6) $ (212.7)
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December 31, 2005:
Total market value $ 7,060.9 $ 6,942.1 $ 6,826.7 $ 6,715.0 $ 6,606.9
Market value change from base 3.43% 1.69% � (1.64)% (3.22)%
Change in unrealized value $ 234.2 $ 115.4 � $ (111.7) $ (219.8)

Another method that attempts to measure portfolio risk is Value-at-Risk (�VaR�). VaR attempts to take into account a broad cross-section of risks
facing a portfolio by utilizing relevant securities volatility data
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skewed towards the most recent months and quarters. VaR measures the amount of a portfolio at risk for outcomes 1.65 standard deviations from
the mean based on normal market conditions over a one year time horizon and is expressed as a percentage of the portfolio�s initial value. In
other words, 95% of the time, should the risks taken into account in the VaR model perform per their historical tendencies, the portfolio�s loss in
any one year period is expected to be less than or equal to the calculated VaR, stated as a percentage of the measured portfolio�s initial value. As
of March 31, 2006, our portfolio�s VaR was estimated to be 3.04%, compared to an estimated 3.29% at December 31, 2005.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Foreign currency rate risk is the potential change in value, income and cash flow arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. A 10% depreciation of the U.S. Dollar against other currencies under our outstanding contracts at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,
net of unrealized appreciation on our securities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, would have resulted in unrealized losses of
approximately $8.3 million and $7.7 million, respectively, and would have decreased book value per common share by approximately $0.11 and
$0.11, respectively. Based on historical observations, it is unlikely that all foreign currency exchange rates would shift against the U.S. Dollar in
the same direction and at the same time and, accordingly, the actual effect of foreign currency rate movements may differ materially from the
amounts set forth above. For further discussion on foreign exchange activity, please refer to ��Results of Operations.�

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a �safe harbor� for forward-looking statements. This report or any other written or
oral statements made by or on behalf of us may include forward-looking statements, which reflect our current views with respect to future events
and financial performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in or incorporated by reference in this report are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as �may,�
�will,� �expect,� �intend,� �estimate,� �anticipate,� �believe� or �continue� or their negative or variations or similar terminology.

Forward-looking statements involve our current assessment of risks and uncertainties. Actual events and results may differ materially from those
expressed or implied in these statements. Important factors that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those indicated in
such statements are discussed below, elsewhere in this report and in our periodic reports filed with the SEC, and include:

� our ability to successfully implement our business strategy during �soft� as well as �hard� markets;

� acceptance of our business strategy, security and financial condition by rating agencies and regulators, as well as by brokers and our
insureds and reinsureds;

� our ability to maintain or improve our ratings, which may be affected by our ability to raise additional equity or debt financings, by
ratings agencies� existing or new policies and practices, as well as other factors described herein;
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� general economic and market conditions (including inflation, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates) and conditions specific
to the reinsurance and insurance markets in which we operate;

� competition, including increased competition, on the basis of pricing, capacity, coverage terms or other factors;

� our ability to successfully integrate, establish and maintain operating procedures (including the implementation of improved
computerized systems and programs to replace and support manual systems) to effectively support our underwriting initiatives and to develop
accurate actuarial data, especially in the light of the rapid growth of our business;

� the loss of key personnel;
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� the integration of businesses we have acquired or may acquire into our existing operations;

� accuracy of those estimates and judgments utilized in the preparation of our financial statements, including those related to revenue
recognition, insurance and other reserves, reinsurance recoverables, investment valuations, intangible assets, bad debts, income taxes,
contingencies and litigation, and any determination to use the deposit method of accounting, which for a relatively new insurance and
reinsurance company, like our company, are even more difficult to make than those made in a mature company since limited historical
information has been reported to us through March 31, 2006;

� greater than expected loss ratios on business written by us and adverse development on claim and/or claim expense liabilities related to
business written by our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries;

� severity and/or frequency of losses;

� claims for natural or man-made catastrophic events in our insurance or reinsurance business could cause large losses and substantial
volatility in our results of operations;

� acts of terrorism, political unrest and other hostilities or other unforecasted and unpredictable events;

� losses relating to aviation business and business produced by a certain managing underwriting agency for which we may be liable to the
purchaser of our prior reinsurance business or to others in connection with the May 5, 2000 asset sale described in our periodic reports filed with
the SEC;

� availability to us of reinsurance to manage our gross and net exposures and the cost of such reinsurance;

� the failure of reinsurers, managing general agents, third party administrators or others to meet their obligations to us;

� the timing of loss payments being faster or the receipt of reinsurance recoverables being slower than anticipated by us;

� material differences between actual and expected assessments for guaranty funds and mandatory pooling arrangements;
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� changes in accounting principles or the application of such principles by accounting firms or regulators; and

� statutory or regulatory developments, including as to tax policy and matters and insurance and other regulatory matters such as the
adoption of proposed legislation that would affect Bermuda-headquartered companies and/or Bermuda-based insurers or reinsurers and/or
changes in regulations or tax laws applicable to us, our subsidiaries, brokers or customers.

In addition, other general factors could affect our results, including developments in the world�s financial and capital markets and our access to
such markets.

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by these cautionary statements. The foregoing review of important factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in
conjunction with other cautionary statements that are included herein or elsewhere. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Other Financial Information

The interim financial information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2006 has not
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. In reviewing such information, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has applied limited procedures in
accordance with professional standards for reviews of interim financial information. However, their separate report included in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the 2006 first quarter states that they did not audit and they do not express an opinion on that interim financial
information. Accordingly, you should restrict your reliance on their reports on such
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information. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 for their reports
on the interim financial information because such reports do not constitute �reports� or �parts� of the registration statements prepared or certified by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Securities Act of 1933.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Reference is made to the information appearing above under the subheading �Market Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management� under the
caption �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,� which information is hereby incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In connection with the filing of this Form 10-Q, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to applicable Exchange Act Rules as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls
and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that all material information required to be filed in this report has been made
known to them in a timely fashion.

We continue to enhance our operating procedures and internal controls (including the timely and successful implementation of our information
technology initiatives, which include the implementation of improved computerized systems and programs to replace and support manual
systems, and including controls over financial reporting) to effectively support our business and our regulatory and reporting requirements. Our
management does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further,
the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to
their costs. As a result of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by
the individual acts of some persons or by collusion of two or more people. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under
all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. As a result of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatement due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected. Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures are met.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
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There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 1. Legal Proceedings
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We, in common with the insurance industry in general, are subject to litigation and arbitration in the normal course of our business. As of
December 31, 2005, we were not a party to any material litigation or arbitration other than as a part of the ordinary course of business, none of
which is expected by management to have a significant adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition and liquidity.

In 2003, the former owners of American Independent Insurance Holding Company (�American Independent�) commenced an action against
ACGL, American Independent and certain of American Independent�s directors and officers and others seeking unspecified damages relating to
the reorganization agreement pursuant to which we acquired American Independent in 2001. The reorganization agreement provided that, as
part of the consideration for the stock of American Independent, the former owners would have the right to receive a limited, contingent
payment from the proceeds, if any, from certain pre-existing lawsuits that American Independent had brought as plaintiff prior to its acquisition
by us. The former owners alleged, among other things, that the defendants entered into the agreement without intending to honor their
commitments under the agreement and are liable for securities and common law fraud and breach of contract. In December 2004, we sold
American Independent, PSIC and affiliated entities, which conducted our nonstandard automobile insurance operations, to a third party. Under
the terms of the sale agreement, ACGL and certain of its affiliates retained the liabilities (if any) relating to the foregoing matters. ACGL and the
other defendants filed a motion to dismiss all claims. That motion was granted on March 23, 2005, and the plaintiffs were allowed until April 15,
2005 to amend their complaint. Although they did attempt to amend the complaint, they did not timely and properly do so, and, on April 26,
2005, judgment was entered dismissing the action with prejudice. The plaintiffs thereafter moved to vacate the judgment and to allow
retroactively the filing of their second amended complaint; that motion was granted. The plaintiffs were allowed until October 28, 2005 to file
their new pleading and they did so on such date. ACGL and the other defendants again moved to dismiss the complaint, and that motion is now
pending before the court. Although no assurances can be made as to the resolution of the motion or of the plaintiffs� claims, management does
not believe that any of the claims are meritorious.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
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The following table summarizes ACGL�s purchases of its common shares for the 2006 first quarter:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased (1)
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

as Part of
Publicly

Announced Plans
or Programs

Maximum
Number of

Shares that May
Yet be Purchased
Under the Plan

or Programs
1/1/2006-1/31/2006 � � � �
2/1/2006-2/28/2006 11,514 $ 56.23 � �
3/1/2006-3/31/2006 � � � �
Total 11,514 $ 56.23 � �

(1) ACGL repurchases shares, from time to time, from employees in order to facilitate the payment of withholding taxes on restricted
shares granted. We purchased these shares at their fair market value, as determined by reference to the closing price of our common
shares on the day the restricted shares vested.
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In accordance with Section 10a(i)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we are responsible for disclosing non-audit services to
be provided by our independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, which are approved by the Audit Committee of our board of directors.

During the 2006 first quarter, the Audit Committee approved engagements of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the following permitted
non-audit services: tax services, tax consulting and tax compliance.

Item 6. Exhibits
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Exhibit No. Description

10 Amended and Restated Arch Capital Group Ltd. Incentive Compensation Plan

15 Accountants� Awareness Letter (regarding unaudited interim financial information)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ARCH CAPITAL GROUP LTD.
(REGISTRANT)

/s/ Constantine Iordanou
Date: May 8, 2006 Constantine Iordanou

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) and Director

/s/ John D. Vollaro
Date: May 8, 2006 John D. Vollaro

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit No. Description

10 Amended and Restated Arch Capital Group Ltd. Incentive Compensation Plan

15 Accountants� Awareness Letter (regarding unaudited interim financial information)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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